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PART I- BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION

1. BUSINESS

The Company

Keppel Philippines Properties, Inc. (“Parent Company™), is a stock corporation organized under
the laws of the Philippines. The Company was first incorporated on 07 F ebruary 1918 under the
name Hoa Hin Co., Inc., then renamed Cebu Shipyard and Engineering Works, Inc. in 1957, and
then to its present name Keppel Philippines Properties Inc. in 1998.

The Parent Company was registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) on February 7, 1918. It’s corporate life was extended for another fifty (50) years starting
February 7, 1968.

The Parent Company is listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE). Its parent company is
Keppel Land Limited (KLL) and the ultimate parent company is Keppel Corporation Limited
(KCL), both incorporated in Singapore. KCL is listed in the Singapore Exchange (SGX).

Subsidiaries

CSRI Investment Corporation (“CSRI”) was incorporated in Philippines on 25 October 1990.
CSRI, a wholly owned subsidiary of KPP, is a holding company with investments in stocks,
shares, securities and other investment instruments similar or related in nature. CSRI’s source of
income is solely from investment in securities.

Buena Homes, Inc. (“BHI”) was incorporated in Philippines on 25 May 2000. BHI, a wholly
owned subsidiary of KPP, is engaged in property holding and development. It is presently
developing Palmdale Heights, a residential condominium project in Pasig City through Buena
Homes (Sandoval) Inc. (“BHSI™), 40% owned by BHI.

Associates

The Parent Company does not directly developed project. The associated companies completed
projects are as follows:

Associates Ownership Project
SMKL 40% The Podium Mall
BHSI 40% owned through BHI Palmdale Heights Residential Condominium

Business

The Parent Company and its subsidiary, BHI, hold investments in associates involved in property
holding and development, and renders property management consultancy services to these
associates.

At the same time, the Company, through its associated companies, is engaged in real estate
development of suitable land sites for residential, office and commercial uses.



i) Residential
Palmdale Heights

The project is a suburban middle-income residential development located on a 23,924
sqm site in Sandoval Avenue, Brgy. Pinagbuhatan, Pasig City, Metro Manila. The
project comprises six residential blocks (a total of 828 units at 138 units per block),
two-storey clubhouse, swimming pools, parks, playgrounds and parking areas for sale
with total 232 parking slots. Each residential unit has a floor area of 40 to 50 sqm.

As at December 31 2015, 96% (791 units) of the 828 launched units and 57% (132
units) of the 232 parking lots have been sold.

In 2015, Phinma Property Holdings Corporation (PPHC) started developing the parcel
of land with a total area of 11,359 square meters owned by BHSI. PPHC is committed
to pay a guaranteed amount of £50.7 million for this parcel of land with a carrying
value of B61.3 million.

ii) Office/Retail
The Podium

The Podium is the first phase of the retail component in the mixed-use development. It
is located in the central business district of Ortigas, Mandaluyong City, Manila. Within
the five-storey mall, it offers a first-class shopping experience with a mix of 156
specialty stores featuring well known international and local labels. It has a wide
selection of fine restaurants, service outlets and two cinemas.

The total leasable area is 16,995 square metres (“sqm™). As of 31 December 2015, the
area occupied is 89%. The operation of the mall is handled by Shopping Center
Management Corporation.

In April 2011, SMKL entered into a Memorandum of Agreement with its Joint Venture
partner, Banco de Oro Unibank (BDO), for the assignment of development rights
allowing construction by BDO of an office tower on top of The Podium in Phase 1.
The office tower was completed in 2015. BDO has also purchased from SMKL the
entire basement car park in Phase 1.

Competition

As a property developer, KPP considers the following property developers as the industry’s key
players in terms of end products:

Net Income YTD 3Q2015
In Php Billions
SM Prime Holdings, Inc. 233
AyalaLand Inc. 15.2
Robinson’s Land Corporation 4.4

Competitive pressures are expected to remain as new players have embarked on aggressive
developments.
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In the residential sector, BHSI faces stiff competition from other developers who have set their
targets on the middle income, a market segment that has also been the focus of BHSL. With its
track record as a developer of quality housing projects, BHSI will remain competitive in this
sector.

In the retail sector, the market is expected to remain competitive as more developers venture
into, or expand in this sector. The Podium has established its presence since its launch in
August 2002. With its unique design and spacious ambiance, The Podium has become the
preferred meeting place for young professionals and also the venue of choice for gala events.

Transactions With and/or Dependence on Related Parties

In the normal course of business, significant transactions with related and associated companies
consist of the following:

a. The Company has a Consultancy Agreement with Straits Mansfield Property Marketing
(SMPM) effective January 2015 based on agreed rates.

b. Keppel Land International Limited (KLIL) provides consultancy, advisory and support
services to the Company in 2014 until end of March 2015. The Company pays KLIL
management consultancy fee computed based on agreed rates.

¢. The Company provides management advisory and consultancy services to SMKL and
ORDC. Management consultancy fees are computed based on agreed rates.

d. The Company grants advances to certain associated companies.

Need For Any Governmental Approval Of Principal Products Or Services

The Philippine real estate industry is regulated by numerous Government policies and
guidelines, commencing from land acquisition and title issuance, development planning,
design and construction up to mortgage financing/refinancing to pre-selling.

The Company, through its associated companies, has complied with the application and
approval process required by the Government, which are described below:

After the developer has identified and finalized the project development plan, an application is
made for a development permit. The developer is required to submit as part of each application
for a development permit an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) prepared by a qualified
environmental consultant. Where a project or property is classified as “environmentally
critical” the developer is required to obtain an Environmental Compliance Certificate (ECO)
issued by the Department of Environment and Natural Resources (DENR). As a requirement
for the issuance of ECC, an Environmental Geological and Geohazard Assessment Report
(EGGAR) should be submitted.

After a development permit is obtained, an application is made for a license to sell the
individual subdivision units from Housing and Land Use Regulatory Board. Approval may
also be required from the Land Management Bureau (for industrial used land) or the Land
Registration Authority (for residential used land) for the relevant subdivision plan.

The Company, through its associated companies, has complied with all applicable Philippine
governmental and environmental laws and regulations.
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Employees

The Company had 9 employees as at 31 December 2015. No significant hiring or recruitment
is expected in 2016.

No. of Employees
Senior Management ' 1
Human Resources 2
Finance and Administration 5
Information Technology 1
Total 9
Major Risk Factors

Property values in the Philippines are affected by the general supply and demand of real estate.
The supply and demand is in turn affected by economic, political and industry factors.

Economic: Results of operations is influenced by the general condition of the Philippine and
global economy. Any economic contraction, failure to register improved economic
performance, may adversely affect the Company’s operations.

Political: The Company’s business is also influenced by the political situation in the country.

Any political instability in the future could have a material adverse effect in the Company’s
business.

Industry: The Philippine real estate industry is cyclical and is sensitive to changes in general
economic conditions in the Philippines. Property values in the Philippines are affected by the
general supply and demand of real estate.

To manage these risks, BHSI and SMKL obtains updates on markets/prices and current
economic and political developments. An assessment is then made of the financial viability of
proposed projects in the light of current economic, political and industry indicators.

Projects Under Development

SMKL Phase 2 Mixed Use Development

The project site is a 12,540 sqm plot beside The Podium. It is the site of the former Benguet
Centre Building which was demolished in May 2010. When completed, the development will
have an expanded and integrated 6-level basement car park (estimated gross floor area of 77,520
sqm) and 5-storey retail mall (estimated gross floor area of 34,000 sqm) linked to the existing
Podium mall. A 42-storey Grade A, LEED Gold certified office tower (estimated gross floor
area of 112,500 sqm) will be constructed on top of the expanded retail mall.

Excavation works started in January 2014 and was completed in November 2014. Main contract
works were awarded in January 2015. The mall is planned to be operational by November 2016.
Construction of the office tower is planned to begin after completion of the mall in 2016.



Consultants and main contractor appointed for this project include the following:

Type of Works Consultants

Concept Architect Arquitectonica

Design Architect FSL & Associate Co.

Construction and Cost Manager JAA23 Construction Management, Inc
Structural Engineer Eccruz Corporation

Main Contractor DDT Kontract, Inc.

2. PROPERTIES

As at 31 December 2015, the Company‘s investments in real estate properties are as follows:

Type Of Property Location

Description

Remarks

a. Land & Buildings ADB Avenue,
Ortigas Center,
Mandaluyong City

b. Land Sandoval Avenue,
Pasig City.

2-hectare site on which
contains The Podium Mall

Land consisting of five (5)
contiguous lots containing an
aggregate of 17,830 sq. m, the
undeveloped site of Palmdale
Heights

40% owned by the Company
through its associate, SMKL. Not
mortgaged

40% owned by the Company
through its associate, BHSI. Not
mortgaged.

3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company and its subsidiaries are not party to any lawsuit.

4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

There were no other matters submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the

fiscal year covered by this report.




PART II - OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION

5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDERS’ MATTERS

The common equity of the Company is traded in the Philippine Stock Exchange. The Company
has no restriction for any cash dividends declared that limit the ability to pay on common equity or
that are likely to do so in the future. However, no cash dividends were declared from 2003 to 2015.

STOCK PRICES 2016 2015 2014
High Low High Low High Low
First Quarter B6.75 P3.50 B4.32 P3.81 £3.00 P2.80
Second Quarter N/A N/A 7.37 3.68 423 2.82
Third Quarter N/A N/A 5.75 3.20 6.00 423
Fourth Quarter N/A N/A 4.79 3.72 4.82 448

The Company has no plans of acquisition, business combination, or other reorganization that will
take effect in the near future that involves issuances of securities.

There were no recent sales of unregistered or exempt securities.

The Company’s common shares were last traded on 01 April 2016 (the latest practicable trading
date) at £5.00 per share.

As of 31 December 2015, the number of shareholders on record was 1,256 and common shares
outstanding were 293,828,900. Following is the table of the Company’s top 20 stockholders as of
31 December 2015:

No. of Shares % to Total
Name Held
1. Keppel Land Limited 148,365,050 50.49
2. | Kepwealth,Inc 51,033,178 17.37
3. | Keppel Corporation Limited 35,783,741 12.18
4. | PCD Nominee Corporation - Filipino 30,734,163 10.46
5. | PCD Nominee Corporation — Foreign 4,440,136 1.51
6. | International Container Terminal Services Inc. 4,265,171 1.45
7. | George S. Dee, Jr. 3,442,891 1.17
8. | PNOC Shipping and Transport Corporation 2,227,511 0.76
9. | Visayan Surety & Insurance Corporation 1,671,664 0.57
10. | Lee Foo Tuck 1,455,708 0.50
11. | Sulpicio Lines, Inc. 694,719 0.24
12. | Augusto Go 410,423 0.14
13. | Negros Navigation Company, Inc. 357,777 0.12
14. | Eduardo Go Hayco 269,277 0.09
15. | Ho Tong. Hardware, Inc. 248,018 0.08
16. | Adrienne Gotian Chu 236,795 0.08
17. | Mary Margaret G. Dee 236,788 0.08
18. | Tessa L. Navera 225,005 0.08




19. | Janette Nellie Go Chiu 200,055 0.07
20. | East Visayan Milling Corporation 181,453 0.06

6. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OR PLAN OF OPERATIONS

A. Results of Operations

The Company holds investments in associates involved in propetties holding and development. It
derives its revenue from rendering management consultancy services to associates.

Year Ended 31 December 2015 Compared To Same Period In 2014

The Company generated total gross revenues of £18.6 million, a decrease of 9.1 million or 33%
from £27.7 million total gross revenues for year 2014. This is due to the combined effects of the
following:

e Equity in net earnings of associates decreased by B7.8 million (38%) from 220.3 million in
2014 to £12.5 million in 2015. This account represents Keppel Philippine Properties’ share
in the net income/loss of its associated companies. Changes in share in net earnings from
period to period are dependent upon the results of the operations of the associated
companies. The decrease is due to combined effects of BHSI loss on disposal of idle land
coupled with SMKL lower net income caused by Podium’s decline in occupancy and rental
rate. Podium’s mall operation is affected by the on-going major renovation in its retail
spaces.

e Management and franchise fees went down by 1.6 million, from £6.7 million in 2014 to
£5.1 million in 2015. This is due to the decrease in Podium’s rental income on which the
management and franchise fees from SMKL is based.

e Interest income increased by R0.4 million, from R0.6 million in 2014 to 1.0 million in
2015 due to higher level of cash and cash equivalents during the year.

General and administrative expenses increased by 210.8 million (42%) from £25.5 million in 2014
to 36.3 million in 2015, due to increases in salaries and professional fees.

Net loss for the year amounted to 214.1 million, a decrease of 16.4 million from net income of
2.3 million in 2014.

Year Ended 31 December 2014 Compared To Same Period In 2013

The Company generated total gross revenues of 827.7 million, a decrease of 210.1 million or 27%
from £37.8 million total gross revenues for year 2013. This is due to the combined effects of the
following:

® Equity in net earnings of associates decreased by B5.9 million (23%) from £26.2 million in
2013 to £20.3 million in 2014. The decrease is due to Podium’s lower occupancy and
rental rate caused by the on-going major renovation in its retail spaces. Podium
implemented a temporary mall-wide rental discount ranging from 30% to 40% to
compensate the tenants for the inconvenience of the on-going construction works.

® Management and franchise fees went down by 2.5 million, from B9.2 million in 2013 to

£6.7 million in 2014, due to the decrease in Podium’s rental income on which the
management and franchise fees from SMKL is based.
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e Interest income dropped by £1.8 million to £0.6 million from B2.4 million in 2013 due to
the decline in bank deposits interest rate during the 2014.

General and administrative expenses increased by 2.1 million, due to increases in salaries and
professional fees.

Net income for 2014 amounted to 2.3 million, a decrease of 214.3 million from R16.6 million in
2013.

Year Ended 31 December 2013 Compared To Same Period In 2012

The Company posted revenue of 237.8 million, or a decreased of 8.0 million or 17.5% from R45.8
million total gross revenues for year 2012. The decreased in revenue was due to decline in interest
income:

® Interest income went down to 2.4 million from £11.9 million in 2012 due to lower interest
rate and a lower level of money market placements due to repatriation of the proceeds relating
to the redemption of preferred shares in 2012. Furthermore, interest-bearing loans and advances
to associates were received in year 2012,

2013 2012
Interest Income In Million Php Decrease
Bank 24 . 107 (8.3) -17%
On Loans - 1.2 1.2 -100%
24 11.9 9.5 -80%

General and administrative expenses remained at the same level as 2012.
Other income (charges) comprised:

¢ Gain on sale of investment property amounting to B 3.6 million

e Other income pertained to commission income and rental income.

* Foreign exchange loss in 2013 arose from realized transactions denominated in Singapore
Dollars (SGD). The Peso strengthened against the SGD on the dates the payables to KLI were
settled.

Net income for the year decreased by 23.0 million to 216.6 million from 219.6 million in 2012.



KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

For The Years Ended December 2015 | December 2014 | % Change
Return On Assets (0.79%) 0.13% (708%)
Earnings (Loss) Per Share (R0.048) £0.008 (700%)
Operating Expense Ratio 195.26% 91.94% 112%
Net Tangible Asset Value Per Share B3.55 £3.59 (1%)
Working Capital Ratio 2.6:1 2.8:1 (7%)

a. Return On Assets - The Company gauges its performance by determining the return on assets
(net income after tax over total assets at beginning). It indicates how effectively the assets of
the Company are utilized in generating profit. Net loss after taxation amounted to R14.1
million in 2015 which decreased by R16.4 million from net income of 2.3 million in 2014.
The decrease is due primarily to a significant drop in equity in net earnings of associates and a

joint venture.

2015 2014
Net Income (Loss) After Tax (a) R 14,061,329) £ 2,298,288
Total Assets At Beginning (b) £ 1,782,211,889 £ 1,755,282,708
Return On Assets (a/b) (0.79%) 0.13%

b. Earnings (Loss) Per Share - It shows the income earned from each share of common stock
outstanding. The EPS in 2015 was lower by 698% compared to last year mainly due to the
decrease in income after tax.

2015 2014
Net Income (Loss) After Tax (a) ® 14,061,329) B 22987288
Number of Common Stock (b) 293,828,900 293,828,900
Earnings (Loss) Per Share (a/b) (B 0.048) £ 0.008



Operating Expense Ratio - It measures operating expenses as a percentage of revenues. The
operating expense ratio increased by 112% due to the 33% decrease in revenues and 42%
increase in operating expenses.

2015 2014
Operating Expenses (a) B 36,335,835 B 25,454,425
Revenues (b) 2 18,608,876 B 27,685,775
Operating Expense Ratio (a/b) 195.26% 91.94%

Net Tangible Asset Value Per Share - It shows the tangible value of each share of common
stock outstanding. The tangible value per share is the same in 2015 and 2014.

Note: Net Tangible Assets include £594.7 million subscription proceeds for Preferred Stock.
As these Preferred Stocks are redeemable, the subscription proceeds have been excluded from
Net Tangible Assets in the computation of Net Tangible Asset Per Share.

2015 2014
Net Tangible Assets B 1,636,677,155 2 1,650,450,063
Less : Preferred Stock R 594,741,000) B 594,741,000)
Net Tangible Assets Attributable = ——e-eoemmmmmmemeeo
To Common Stock £ 1,041,936,155 £ 1,055,709,063
Number of Common Stock 293,828,900 293,828,900
Net Tangible Asset Value Per Share £ 355 £ 359

Working Capital Ratio - The Company’s ability to meet obligations is measured by
determining current assets over current obligations. The Working Capital ratio decreased by
7%.

2015 2014
Current Assets (a) B 342,026,296 £ 369,039,611
Current Liabilities (b) £ 131,000,212 £ 131,756,629
Working Capital Ratio (a/b) 2.6:1 2.8:1



B. Financial Position

Year Ended 31 December 2015 Compared To Same Period In 2014

Total assets decreased by B14 million to 21,768 million in 2015 as compared with last year’s
figure of 21,782 million.

The significant causes of material changes in financial position from period to period are as
follows:

i

ii.

iii.

iv.

Cash and cash equivalents increased by £55.4 million from £151.5 million in 2014 to £206.9
million in 2015. The increase is due to collection of reimbursable charges and receipt of
payment for loan advances from associates amounting to 271.5 million which was partly
offset by cash used in operatiens.

Receivables increased by 1.5 million from £5.2 million in 2014 to £6.7 million in 2015. The
increase results from additional advances to employees.

Due from related parties decreased by £84.2 million from £192.9 million in 2014 to R108.7
million in 2015. The decrease is primarily due to collection of reimbursable charges and
receipt of payment for loan advances from associates.

Investments in associates and joint venture increased by £12.7 million to £1,345.6 million
from £1,332.9 million last year due to the increase in equity in net earnings of associates
which amounted to £12.7 million.

Year Ended 31 December 2014 Compared To Same Period In 2013

Total assets increase by £27 million to 21,782 million in 2014 as compared with last year’s figure
of 21,755 million.

The significant causes of material changes in financial position from period to period are as
follows:

ii.

jii.

Investments in associates increase by £15.5 million to £1,332.9 million from B1,317.5 million
last year due to the increase in equity in net earnings of associates which amounted to £20.3
million, net of 4.8 million dividend received during the current year.

Due from related parties increase by B10.8 million primarily due to additional reimbursable
charges extended to associates.

Other current assets increase by 1.7 due to creditable withholding tax and prepayments.



7.

TRENDS, EVENTS OR UNCERTAINTIES THAT HAVE AFFECTED OR THAT ARE

REASONABLY EXPECTED TO AFFECT REVENUES OR INCOME

a)

b)

c)

d)

e)

8.

As at 31 December 2015,

o There are no known material commitments for capital expenditures.

o There are no known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably
expected to have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net revenues or income from
continuing operations.

o There are no significant elements of income or loss that did not arise from the Company’s
continuing operations.

o There are no seasonal aspects that had a material impact on the results of operations of the
Company.

There are no events nor any default or acceleration of an obligation that will trigger direct or
contingent financial obligation that is material to the Company.

There are no off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent
obligations), and other relationships of the company with unconsolidated entries or other persons
created during the reporting period.

The Group is a party to certain lawsuits or claims arising from the ordinary course of business.
The Group management and legal counsels believe that the eventual liabilities under these
lawsuits or claims, if any, will not have material effect on the financial statements.

The Philippine real estate industry is cyclical and is sensitive to changes in general economic
conditions. Property values in the Philippines are affected by the general supply and demand of
real estate.

INFORMATION ON EXTERNAL AUDITORS

Fees paid by the Group to an Independent Accountant is made up of audit and audit related fees
only. There were no other fees paid.

2015 014

Audit and Audit Related Fees B565,070 £525,200

The Audit Committee’s approval policies and procedures included assessing the proposed scope of
audit work to be conducted, evaluating if there are material audit issues to be resolved, and then
determining whether the fee charged is commensurate with the work carried out.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements and schedules listed in the accompanying Index to Financial

Statements and Supplementary Schedules (page24) are filed as part of this Form 17-A
(pages 25 to 85).



10. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH EXTERNAL AUDITORS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

There were no changes in and/or disagreements with the Company’s external auditors on
accounting and financial disclosures.
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PART III- CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMA TION

11. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
Board of Directors
(1) Mr. Ng Ooi Hooi, 56

Mr. Ng Ooi Hooi, 56, Singaporean, was elected Chairman and Director of the Company in January
2016. Mr. Ng joined Keppel Land Group in 2007 and is currently President, Regional Investments,
overseeing the Group’s businesses in India, Middle East, Thailand, Myanmar, Malaysia and Sri
Lanka. He was previously General Manager, Regional Head (and before that General Manager,
Business Development) of Keppel Land China Limited. From 2008 to 2011 Mr. Ng was deployed
as Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Sino-Singapore Tianjin Eco-City Investment and
Development Co Ltd.

Prior to joining Keppel Land Group, Mr. Ng served for 22 years in the Singapore Administrative
Service, and held key appointments in several government ministries and statutory boards.

Mr. Ng is a Director of a number of subsidiaries and associates in Keppel Land Group.

Mr. Ng holds a Master Degree in Public Administration from Harvard University and a Bachelor
of Economics (First Class Honours) Degree from the Australian National University.

(2) Ramon J. Abejuela, 67

Mr. Ramon J. Abejuela', 67 years old, Filipino, has been an Independent Director of the Company
since November 1999 to June 2008. He was re-elected in June 2009 and is currently the
Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company.

Mr. Abejuela serves as Director of Philippine Nutrifoods Corporation and NCP Publishing
Corporation.

Mr. Abejuela holds a Bachelor of Science in Chemical Engineering (Cum Laude) Degree from De
La Salle University and Master’s Degree in Business Management-General Management
Curriculum from Asian Institute of Management.

(3) Celso P. Vivas, 69

Mr. Celso P. Vivas', 69, Filipino, has been an Independent Director of Keppel Philippines
Properties, Inc. since November 2004 and is a member of the Company’s Audit Committee.

Mr. Vivas has over 47 years of experience in audit, finance, enterprise risk management and
corporate governance.

Mr. Vivas is a Certified Public Accountant and is currently Vice-Chairman and CEO of the
Corporate Governance Institute of the Philippines. He is a member of Marubeni Foundation’s
Board of Trustees and Canadian Chamber of Commerce’s Board of Governors. He is also an
Independent Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee of Keppel Philippines Marine, Inc., as
well as an Independent Director and a member of the Audit Committee of Keppel Philippines
Holdings, Inc. He was Risk Consulting Partner and Assurance Business Advisory Partner of SGV
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& Company until his retirement in 2001,

Mr. Vivas holds a Bachelor of Business Administration (Cum Laude) Degree from the University
of the East. He also obtained a Master’s Degree in Business Management from the Asian Institute
of Management (SGV & Co. Scholar). He is also a graduate of Company Directors’ Course from
Australian Institute of Company Directors (ICD Scholar).

(4) Stefan Tong Wai Mun, 43

Mr. Stefan Tong Wai Mun, 43, Malaysian, was elected as a Director of the Company in June 2007.
He is currently the President and Director of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. He is also the
Executive Vice President and Director of Keppel Philippines Marine, Inc. and Director of Keppel
Subic Shipyard, Inc. He is also a Director of various Keppel companies in the Philippines.

Mr. Tong holds a Bachelor of Commerce (Honours) Degree from University of Western Australia.
He is also a Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia.

(5) Mr. Lee Foo Tuck, 60

Mr. Lee Foo Tuck, 60, Singaporean, was elected as a Director of the Company in May 2008. He
was Vice President (Finance and Administration) and Treasurer of the Company from April 2004
to June 2008. He was Senior Vice President of the Company from July 2008 to June 2011 when he
was appointed as President of the Company.

Mr. Lee has more than 30 years of extensive experience in accounting and finance. Prior to joining
the Company he has held managerial positions in several multinational companies from various
industries.

(6) Lim Kei Hin, 58

Mr. Lim Kei Hin, 58, Singaporean, was elected a Director of the Company in June 2011. Mr. Lim
joined the Keppel Land Group as Chief Financial Officer in July 2007.

Prior to joining the Keppel Land Group, he was with Singapore Airlines Limited and has more
than 20 years of diverse experience having served in different financial and general management
roles in Singapore, the Philippines, Australia and the United States. His last appointment was
Chief Financial Officer of Singapore Airport Terminal Services Limited.

Mr Lim is a Director of Keppel REIT Management Limited and a number of subsidiaries and
associated companies of the Keppel Land Group.

Mr. Lim holds a Bachelor of Science (Economics) Degree in Accounting & Finance (Honours)
from London School of Economics & Political Science, UK.

(7) Tan Siew Ngok, 59
Ms. Tan Siew Ngok, 59, Singaporean, was elected as a Director of the Company in March 2015.
Ms. Tan is the General Manager (Finance and Administration) of Keppel Land International

Limited from 2011 to present. She is also a Director of subsidiaries and associated companies of
the Keppel Land Group.

Ms. Tan holds a Bachelor in Commerce (Accountancy) Degree from Nanyang University,
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Singapore. She is a Fellow of CPA, Australia and a Fellow of Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants.

" Independent Director
Key Officers

Mr. Lee Foo Tuck, 60, Singaporean, was appointed President in June 2011. He has been with the
Company since April 2004. He held the position of Vice President (Finance and Administration)
and Treasurer from April 2004 to June 2008, when he was appointed Senior Vice President of the
Company. Mr. Lee is a Certified Accountant and is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (U.K.). He has more than 30 years of experience in accounting and finance.
He has held various managerial positions in several organizations prior to joining the.Company.

Almira A. Afionuevo, 41, Filipino, was appointed Treasurer of the Company on 14 June 2012. She
joined the Company on 25 July 2011 as Manager, Finance & Accounting. She is a Certified Public
Accountant and has received various International Standard Certifications for her competencies in
Understanding the Requirements of Quality Management Systems, Management Systems Auditing
Techniques and Leading Management Systems Audit. She started her professional accounting stint
as an Experienced Auditor at SGV & Co., while in the Keppel Group, as Finance Manager for
Keppel Communications Philippines, Inc. She has also served as Consultant and Audit Manager to
various local and multinational companies, namely; Schutzengel Telecoms, Trisilco Folec
Philippines, Inc. and Eagle Broadcasting Corporation.

Atty. Ma. Melva E. Valdez, 56, Filipino, has been the Corporate Secretary of the Company since
1999. She also served as Director of the Company from 24 June 2008 to 11 June 2009. She was
elected director of Keppel Philippines Holdings (KPH) in 2001. Atty. Valdez is also the Corporate
Secretary of KPH since 1998. She is a Senior Partner and Chairman of the law firm of Jimenez
Gonzales Bello Valdez Caluya & Fernandez (JGLaw). She is also the Corporate Secretary of
Keppel Philippines Marine, Inc. (KPMI), Mabuhay Vinyl Corporation (listed corporations), Subic
Shipyard & Engineering Works, Inc. and Asian Institute of Management. She is also a member of
the Board of Directors of Leighton Contractors (Philippines), Inc., Servier Philippines, Inc., Buena
Homes (Sandoval), Inc. and Asia Contractors Holdings, Inc. She holds directorship positions in the
following companies: Logwin Air + Ocean Philippines, Inc., KPSI Property, Inc., Opon Realty &
Development Corp., Opon-Ke Properties, Inc., KP Capital, Inc., Bridex Electric Philippines, Inc.,
Asia Control Systems Philippines, Inc., Kepwealth Property Philippines, Inc., Trisilco Folec
Philippines, Inc. and Norfolk International, Inc. Atty. Valdez graduated from the University of the
Philippines with a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Political Science and a Bachelor’s Degree in Law.
She has 24 years of working experience in her field of profession as a lawyer.

Atty. Myla Gloria A. Amboy, 45, Filipino, was elected as the Company’s Assistant Corporate
Secretary on 31 March 2007. She is a Senior Associate of the law firm of Jimenez Gonzales Bello
Valdez Caluya & Fernandez (JG Law). She is also the Assistant Corporate Secretary of SM Keppel
Land, Inc., CSRI Investment Corporation, and Opon Ventures Inc. and the Corporate Secretary of
Opon Realty Development Corporation, Opon-KE Properties, Inc. and Servier International
Philippines, Inc.

The members of the Board of Directors of the Company are elected at the Annual Stockholders’
Meeting to hold office until the next succeeding annual meeting and until their respective successors
have been elected and qualified.

The Officers are appointed annually by the Board of Directors at its first meeting following the

- 16 -



Annual Meeting of the Stockholders, each to hold office until the corresponding meeting of the
Board of Directors in the next year or until a successor shall have been appointed or shall have been
qualified.

As stated in this report, the business experience of the Company’s directors and officers covers the
past five years.

Significant Employees

No other employees other than the officers mentioned above, are expected to make significant
contributions to the business.

Directorships in Other Reporting Companies

The following are directorships held by Directors in other reporting companies:

Celso P. Vivas
Name of Corporation Position
Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. ................. Independent Director
Keppel Philippines Marine, Inc........... evrvrune..... Independent Director
Stefan Tong Wai Mun
Name of Corporation Position
Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. ................ Director and President
Keppel Philippines Marine, Inc.........co.eevvenen.... Director and Executive Vice President
Family Relationship

There are no family relationship among the directors and officers listed above.
Legal Proceedings

The Company is not aware of any of the following events having occurred during the past five years
up to the date of this report that are material to an evaluation of the ability or integrity of any
director, nominee for election as Director, executive officer, underwriter or control person of the
Company:

(2) any bankruptcy petition filed by or against any business of which such person was a general
partner or executive officer either at the time of the bankruptcy or within two years prior to that
time;

(b) any conviction by final judgment, including the nature of the offense, in a criminal proceeding,

domestic or foreign, or being subject to a pending criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign,
excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses;
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(c) being subject to any order, judgment or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated,
of any court of competent jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, permanently or temporarily
enjoining, barring suspending or otherwise limiting his involvement in any type of business,
securities, commodities or banking activities; and

(d) being found by a domestic or foreign court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the SEC
or comparable foreign body, or a domestic or foreign exchange or other organized trading
market or self-regulatory organization, to have violated a securities or commodities law or
regulation, and the judgment has not been reversed, suspended or vacated.

12. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The Company has three (3) executive officers as of 31 December 2015.

Name Principal Position
Lee Foo Tuck President
Almira A. Anofiuevo Manager — Finance & Administration
Elizabeth M. Perez* Asst. Manager — Finance & Administration
Cyril Q. Mating Asst. Manager — Finance & Administration

* Resigned on 24 July 2015

The aggregate annual compensation (including salary and benefits) paid to the executive officers
is summarized in the table below:

A | Top three executive officers Salary | Bonus | Others | Total
as a group unnamed In Php Millions
2016 (Estimate) 4.80 0.10 0.50 5.40
2015 4.40 0.01 0.20 4.61
2014 4.40 0.01 0.20 4.61
B | Other officers and directors Salary | Bonus | Others | Total
as a group unnamed In Php Millions
2016 (Estimate) 240 0.40 0.20 3.00
2015 2.20 0.40 0.20 2.80
2014 2.20 0.40 0.50 3.10

Executive Officers do not receive any other form of remuneration aside from the above
compensation. There are no arrangements and/or employment contracts between the Company
and executive officers providing for any compensatory plan or arrangement for payment upon
resignation, retirement, termination or cessation of employment.

With respect to directors’ remuneration, the directors are being paid directors’ fees amounting to
£80,000 each per annum. Each director also receives an amount of 210,000 per diem for
attendance at every Board Meeting.

There are no other arrangements pursuant to which any director of the Company was
compensated, or is to be compensated, directly or indirectly, during the last completed fiscal
year and the ensuing year.
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13. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT

(@)

Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners:

As of 31 December 2015, the Company has no knowledge of any individual or any party
who beneficially owns Keppel Philippines Properties, Inc. stock in excess of 5% of the
Company’s common stock except as set forth in the table below:

Name of
. C
Title of gﬁifé‘fd’??ﬁiﬁiiéﬁﬁ :vi(t)lrldThe ii’éefe‘iﬁoﬂsﬁ?ﬁr Citizenship | DO Of Shares | Percent of
Class Company with Record Held Class
Owner
Common | Keppel Land Limited ! Same as Record Singaporean 148,365,050 50.49%
Shares 230 Victoria Street, Owner
of Stock #15-05 Bugis Junction Towers,
Singapore 188024
(Stockholder)
- Common | Kepwealth, Inc. 2 Same as Record Filipino 51,033,178 17.37%
Shares Unit 3-B Country Space I Bldg, Owner
h of Stock Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue,
Makati City
(Stockholder)
Common | Keppel Corporation Limited 3 Same as Record Singaporean 35,783,741 12.18%
Shares 1 HarbourFront Avenue Owner
of Stock #18-01 Keppel Bay Tower,
Singapore 098632
(Stockholder)
Common | PCD Nominee Corp. — Filipino 4 Various ® Filipino 30,734,163 10.46%
G/F Makati Stock Exchange
Shares Building
of Stock 6767 Ayala Avenue
Makati City

1 Mr. Ng Ooi Hooi; is authorized as proxy to vote for the shareholdings of Keppel Land Limited.

Company.

2 Mr. Stefan Tong Wai Mun, or in his absence, the Chairman of the meeting is duly authorized as proxy to vote in the shares of Kepwealth in the

3 Mr. Stefan Tong Wai Mun, or in his absence, the Chairman of the meeting is duly authorized as proxy to vote for the shareholdings of KCL in the

Company.

4 PCD Nominee Corporation (PCNC) is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Philippine Central Depository, a corporation established to improve operations

in securities transactions and to provide a fast, safe and highly efficient system for securities settlement in the Philippines. PCNC acts as trustee-

nominee for all shares lodged in the PCD system, where trades effected on the Philippine Stock Exchange are finally settled with the PCD.

However, while PCNC is the actual shareholder in the said company, shares held by PCNC do not grant voting powers to it as beneficial ownership of

the shares still remain with the lodging stockholder. By policy, PCNC does not vote the shares it was entrusted with in its name.

5 The Insular Life Assurance Company, Ltd. is the beneficial owner of the following shares of the Company as of 31 December 2015;
No. of shares held % of class
The Insular Life Assurance Company, Ltd. 18,496,016 6.29%




(a) Security Ownership of Management:

As of 31 December 2015, the shareholdings of all Directors of Keppel Philippines
Properties, Inc. are set forth in the table below:

of Stock

Title of Class Name of Beneficial Owner Amount_and Nature 2 f Citizenship Percent of
Beneficial Ownership Class
Common Shares | Lim Kei Hin 1 Singaporean 0.00%
of Stock Director's Qualifying Share
Common Shares | Tan Siew Ngok 1 Singaporean 0.00%
of Stock Director's Qualifying Share
Common Shares | Ramon J. Abejuela 1 Filipino 0.00%
of Stock Director's Qualifying Share
Common Shares | Celso P. Vivas 1 Filipino 0.00%
of Stock Director's Qualifying Share
Common Shares | Ng Ooi Hooi 1 Malaysian 0.00%
of Stock Director’s Qualifying Share
Common Shares | Stefan Tong Wai Mun 10,000 Malaysian 0.00%
of Stock
Common Shares | Lee Foo Tuck 1,455,708 Singaporean 0.50%

None of the compensated executive officers have Security Ownership in the Company as

shown in the list of shareholders purchases provided by the Company’s transfer agent.

The total security ownership of all directors and officers as a group unnamed is 1,465,713
shares or 0.50% of total shares outstanding.

(b) Voting Trust Holders of 5% or more

As of 31 December 2015, there are no individuals or parties who hold 5% or more of the

Company’s common stock under a voting trust or similar agreement.

(c) Changes in control

There were no events or arrangements which may result in a change in control of the

Company.

14. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

During the fiscal year, no director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive any
benefit by reason of any contract with the company, a related corporation, a firm of which the director

is a member or a company of which a director has a substantial financial interest,

No executive officer or stockholder holding at least 5% interest in the Company received any benefit
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by reason of the Company’s contracts/dealings with any subsidiary, related corporation, or firm of

which

15. Ple
17-

such persons have a direct or material interest.

PART IV — CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

case refer to attached Annual Corporate Governance Report (ACGR), filed as part of this Form
A.

PART V- EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES

16. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON SEC FORM 17-C

(@)

(®

Exhibits- See accompanying Index to Exhibits (page 97)

The following exhibit is filed as a separate section of this report:
No. (18) on Index to Exhibits - Subsidiaries of the Registrant (page 98)

The other exhibits, as indicated in the Index to Exhibits are either not applicable to the
Company or require no answer.

Reports on SEC Form 17-C

Reports on SEC Form 17-C filed during the last six (6) month period covered by this
report are as follow:

Date Events Reported
18 February 2015 Approval and Release of Audited Financial Statements as of 31
December 2014
03 March 2015 Resignation/Election of Director
11 June 2015 Approval of Directors’ Remuneration for Y2014
11 June 2015 Approval of the following during the Annual Stockholder’s
Meeting:

Appointment of External Auditor

Election of Directors

Presentation and Approval of Y2014 Annual Report and
Audited Financial Statements as of 31 December 2014

Approval of Directors” Remuneration for Y2014

Amendment of the Articles of Incorporation

Board of Directors:
Election of Officers
Appointment of Members of Various Committees
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» \ F Ortigas Jr Road, Ortigas Center -
Pasig City 1605, Philippines

Phlllppmees Properties

Keppel Philippines Propertles, Inc. Tel : (632) 5846170
Units 2203-2204 Raffles Corporate Center (632) 5846171

(632) 5843913
Fax: (632) 5843915

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of Keppel Philippines Properties, Inc. and Sub31d1ar1es (“Keppel Group”) is
responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements for the
years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, including the| additional components attached

therein, in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.

This responsibility includes

designing and implementing internal controls relevant to the prepatation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies, and making accounting estimates that

are reasonable in the circumstances.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the consolidated financial statements and submits the

same to the stockholders.

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co., the independent auditors appointed by the stockholders, has examined
the consolidated financial statements of Keppel Group in accordance with Philippine Standards on
Auditing, and in its report to the stockholders, has expressed 1ts opinion on the fairness of presentation

upon completion of such examination.
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’ SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. - Tel: (632) 891 0307 BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0001,
6760 Ayala Avenue Fax: (632).819 0872 December 14, 2015, valid untit December 31, 2018
1226 Makati City ey.com/ph SEC Accreditation No. 0012-FR-4 (Group A},

Building a better Philippine: i i
working world ilippines November 10, 2015, valid until November g, 2018

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Keppel Philippines Properties, Inc.

Units 2203 and 2204, Raffles Corporate Center
F. Ortigas Jr. Road (formerly Emerald Avenue)
Ortigas Center, Pasig City

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Keppel Philippines
Properties, Inc. and Subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as
_ at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the consolidated statements of income, statements of
— comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for-each of the

three years in the period ended December 31, 2015, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

. Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in-accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion. :

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Keppel Philippines Properties, Inc. and Subsidiaries as at December 3 1,2015 and
2014, and their financial performance and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2015 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

Jennifer D. Ticlao
Partner »
CPA Certificate No. 109616
SEC Accreditation No. 1507-A (Group A),
September 24, 2015, valid until September 23, 2018
Tax Identification No. 245-571-753
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-110-2015,
March 4, 2015, valid until March 3, 2018
PTR No. 5321700, January 4, 2016, Makati City

February 23,2016
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ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 6 and 22) P206,916,313 P151,498,654
Receivables (Notes 7 and 22) ‘ 6,663,734 5,171,155
Due from related parties (Notes 15 and 22) 108,724,018 192,865,094
Other current assets (Notes 8 and 21) 19,722,231 19,504,708
Total Current Assets 342,026,296 369,039,611
Noncurrent Assets
Auvailable-for-sale financial assets (Note 9) 79,512,230 79,512,230
Investments in associates and a joint venture (Note 10) 1,345,566,510 1,332,947,243
Property and equipment - net (Note 12) 184,252 307,480
Refundable deposits (Note 22) 107,110 107,110
Pension asset - net (Note 17) 576,781 298,215
Total Non-Current Assets 1,425,946,883 1,413,172,278
TOTAL ASSETS B1,767,973,179 P1,782,211,889
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities
(Notes 13 and 22) B6,926,165 P5,543,223
Due to related parties (Notes 15 and 22) 124,000,000 124,000,000
Income tax payable 74,047 118,139
Provisions (Note 19) - 2,095,267
Total Current Liabilities 131,000,212 131,756,629
Noncurrent Liability
Deferred tax liability - net (Note 18) 295,812 5,197
Total Liabilities 131,296,024 131,761,826
Equity (Note 14)
Capital stock 356,104,000 356,104,000
Additional paid-in capital 602,885,517 602,885,517
Treasury shares - at cost (2,667,645) (2,667,645)
Other reserves 935,058 646,637
Retained earnings 679,420,225 693,481,554
Total Equity 1,636,677,155 1,650,450,063
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY B1,767,973,179 P£1,782,211,889

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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KEPPEL PHILIPPINES PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years Ended December 31

2015 2014 2013
REVENUE AND INCOME
Equity in net earnings of associates and a joint venture
(Note 10) £12,552,560 20,323,109 P26,194,363
Management consultancy and franchise fees (Note 15) 5,070,692 6,741,020 9,158,538
Interest income (Notes 6 and 17) 985,624 621,646 2,452,485
18,608,876 27,685,775 37,805,386
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE
EXPENSES (Note 16) (36,335,835) (25,454,425) (23,358,840)
OTHER INCOME (CHARGES)
Gain on reversal of liability and provision
(Notes 13 and 19) 4,448,924 — -
Foreign exchange loss - net (115,439) (142,285) (110,198)
Gain on sale of investment properties (Note 11) - — 3,571,429
Rental income (Note 11) - - 179,031
Others 180 820 961
4,333,665 (141,465) 3,641,223
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX (13,393,294) 2,089,885 18,087,769
PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM)
INCOME TAX (Note 18)
Current 472,440 538,240 1,145,686
Deferred 195,595 (746,643) 287,271
668,035 (208,403) 1,432,957
NET INCOME (LOSS) (14,061,329) 2,298,288 16,654,812
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (L.OSS)
Items that will not be recycled to profit or loss
Actuarial gain (loss) on defined benefit plan (Note 17) 316,734 36,754 (197,252)
Income tax relating to actuarial loss (gain) (Note 18) (95,020) (11,026) 59,176
Share in actuarial gains (losses) of an associate and a
joint venture (Note 10) 66,707 (44,877) (57,684)
288,421 (19,149) (195,760)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (B13,772,908) £2.279,139 P16,459,052
Basic/Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share (Note 20) (20.05) 20.01 £0.06

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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KEPPEL PHILIPPINES PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31

2015 2014 2013
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income (loss) before income tax (®13,393,294) 22,089,885 P18,087,769
Adjustments for:
Current service cost (Note 17) 228,115 233,366 178,574
Depreciation (Notes 12 and 16) 139,763 162,462 864,062
Foreign exchange losses - net 115,439 142,285 110,198
Gain on sale of investment properties (Note 11) - - (3,571,429)
Interest income (Notes 6 and 17) (985,624) (621,646) (2,452,485)
Gain on reversal of liability and provision
(Notes 13 and 19) (4,448,924) - -
Equity in net earnings of associates and a joint venture
(Note 10) (12,552,560) (20,323,109) (26,194,363)
Loss before changes in working capital (30,897,085) (18,316,757) (12,977,674)
Decrease (increase) in:
Receivables (1,386,738) 77,527 (5,105,179)
Due from related parties 12,674,276 13,258,898 2,243,240
Other current assets (335,662) (1,738,033) (1,205,682)
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 3,736,599 1,465,525 700,542
Due to related parties - - (288,500)
Net cash used in operations (16,208,610) (5,252,840) (16,633,253)
Contribution to the retirement plan (Note 17) (176,527) (152,901) (153,733)
Interest received 839,903 594,152 2,521,670
Income tax paid (371,933) (618,106) (1,097,423)
Net cash used in operating activities (15,917,167) (5,429,695) (15,362,739)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Increase in refundable deposits - (51,002) -
Proceeds from:
Dividend from associate (Note 10) - 4,800,000 -
Sale of investment properties (Note 11) - - 3,571,429
Payments for acquisition of property and equipment
(Note 12) (16,535) (156,522) (195,663)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (16,535) 4,592,476 3,375,766
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Decrease in amounts due from related parties 71,466,800 - -
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES
ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (115,439) (142,285) (110,198)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 55,417,659 (979,504) (12,097,171)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF YEAR 151,498,654 152,478,158 164,575,329
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR (Note 6) £206,916,313 P151,498,654 P152,478,158

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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KEPPEL PHILIPPINES PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.

Corporate Information

Keppel Philippines Properties, Inc. (“Parent Company”) and the following subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “the Group™) were incorporated in the Philippines and registered with the Philippine
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The Parent Company was incorporated on February 7,
1918. The Parent Company’s corporate life was extended for another fifty (50) years starting
February 7, 1968.

Percentage
Subsidiaries of Ownership Nature of Business
Buena Homes, Inc. (BHI) 100% Investment holding
CSRI Investment Corporation (CSRI) 100% Investment holding

The Parent Company is listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE). Its parent company is Keppel
Land Limited (KLL) and the ultimate parent company is Keppel Corporation Limited (KCL), both
incorporated in Singapore. KCL is listed in the Singapore Exchange (SGX). As of December 31,
2015 and 2014, the top five beneficial shareholders of the Parent Company are the following:

Percentage of Ownership
Shareholders 2015 2014
KLL 50% 50%
Kepwealth, Inc. 17% 17%
KCL 12% 12%
PCD Nominee Corporation 12% 12%
Public 9% 9%

The Group holds investments in associates involved in property holding and development (see Note
10) and render management consultancy services to associates (see Note 15).

On December 6, 2010, the Group submitted its application to SEC to temporarily change its business
address to Units 2203 and 2204, Raffles Corporate Center, F. Ortigas Jr. Road (formerly Emerald
Avenue), Ortigas Center, Pasig City due to the ongoing reconstruction of the Group’s principal office.
The Group’s principal office address is Penthouse, Benguet Centre Building, 12 ADB Avenue,
Ortigas Center, Mandaluyong City.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been authorized for issue by the Board of
Directors (BOD) on February 23, 2016.



2. Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance

Basis of Preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared under the historical cost basis.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (B), which is the Group’s

functional currency. Amounts are rounded off to the nearest Philippine Peso, except when otherwise
indicated.

Statement of Compliance

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2015. Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date of acquisition or incorporation, being the date on which the Parent
Company obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the Parent
Company, using consistent accounting policies. When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Parent
Company’s accounting policies.

Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity
holders of the Parent Company since the subsidiaries are wholly-owned by the Parent Company.

All intra-group balances, transactions and unrealized gains and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full.

Assessment of Control

Control is achieved when the Parent Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

e Power over the investee
e Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from involvement with the investee; and

e The ability to use power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns

The Parent Company re-assesses whether or not it controls the investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control..

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the related assets (including goodwill),
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liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity while any resultant gain or loss is
recognized in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognized at fair value.

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

The Group applied for the first time certain amendments, which are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2015. Except as otherwise stated, the adoption of these new
accounting standards and amendments have no material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

o Amendments to Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) 19, Employee Benefits - Defined Benefit
Plans: Employee Contributions
o Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle
e PFRS 2, Share-based Payment - Definition of Vesting Condition
* PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Accounting for Contingent Consideration in a Business
Combination
e PFRS 8, Operating Segments - Aggregation of Operating Segments and Reconciliation of the
Total of the Reportable Segments’ Assets to the Entity’s Assets
The amendments require entities to disclose the judgment made by management in
aggregating two or more operating segments. This disclosure should include a brief
description of the operating segments that have been aggregated in this way and the economic
indicators that have been assessed in determining that the aggregated operating segments
share similar economic characteristics. The amendments also clarify that an entity shall
provide reconciliations of the total of the reportable segments’ assets to the entity’s assets if
such amounts are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker. These
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014 and are
applied retrospectively. The amendments affect disclosures only on the judgment made by
management in aggregating operating segments and did not have impact on the Group’s
financial position or performance.
e PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment - Revaluation Method - Proportionate Restatement
of Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization
o PAS 24, Related Party Disclosures - Key Management Personnel
o Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2011-2013 cycle
e PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Scope Exceptions for Joint Arrangements
e PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement - Portfolio Exception
e PAS 40, Investment Property

Future Changes in Accounting Policies

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to date of issuance of the
Group’s financial statements are listed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards when they
become effective. Except as otherwise stated, these amendments and improvements to PFRS and new
standards are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Effective in 2016

PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements - Disclosure Initiative (Amendments)

PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 38, Intangible Assets - Clarification of

Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization (Amendments)

PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 41, Agriculture - Bearer Plants (Amendments)

PAS 27, Separate Financial Statements - Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements

(Amendments)

The amendments will allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in

subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements. Entities already

applying PFRS and electing to change to the equity method in its separate financial statements

will have to apply that change retrospectively. For first-time adopters of PFRS electing to use the

equity method in its separate financial statements, they will be required to apply this method from

the date of transition to PFRS. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or

after January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted. The Group is currently assessing the impact

of these amendments in the separate financial statements of each Parent entity in the Group.

PERS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint

Ventures and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Investment in Entities:

Applying the Consolidation Exception (Amendments)

PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements - Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations

(Amendments) '

PFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts

Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle)

The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle) are effective for annual periods

beginning on or after January 1, 2016.

e PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations - Changes in
Methods of Disposal

e PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Servicing Contracts

o PFRS 7 - Applicability of the Amendments to PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim Financial
Statements

e PAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting - disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in the interim

financial report’

PAS 19, Employee Benefits - regional market issue regarding discount rate

Effective in 2018

PERS 9, Financial Instruments

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, Financial Instruments. The new
standard (renamed as PFRS 9) reflects all phases of the financial instruments project and replaces
PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and all previous versions of
PFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements for classification and measurement,
impairment, and hedge accounting. PFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018, with early application permitted. Retrospective application is required, but
providing comparative information is not compulsory. For hedge accounting, the requirements
are generally applied prospectively, with some limited exceptions. Early application of previous
versions of PFRS 9 (2009, 2010 and 2013) is permitted if the date of initial application is before
February 1, 2015. The Group did not early adopt PFRS 9.
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The adoption of PFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Group’s
financial assets and impairment methodology for financial assets, but will have an no impact on
the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial liabilities. The adoption will also
have an effect on the Group’s application of hedge accounting and on the amount of its credit
losses. The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting this standard.

In addition, the International Accounting Standards Board has issued the following new standards that
have not yet been locally adopted by the SEC and FRSC. The Group is currently assessing the impact
of these new standards and plans to adopt them on their required effective dates once adopted locally.

» IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective January 1, 2018)
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue
arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15 revenue is recognized at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring
goods or services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to
measuring and recognizing revenue.

The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue
recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a full or modified retrospective application is
required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with early adoption permitted.

o IFRS 16, Leases (effective January 1, 2019)
On January 13, 2016, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued its new
standard, IFRS 16, Leases, which replaces International Accounting Standards (IAS) 17, the
current leases standard, and the related Interpretations.

Under the new standard, lessees will no longer classify their leases as either operating or finance
leases in accordance with IAS 17. Rather, lessees will apply the single-asset model. Under this
model, lessees will recognize the assets and related liabilities for most leases in their balance
sheets, and subsequently, will depreciate the lease assets and recognize interest on the lease
liabilities in their profit or loss. Leases with a term of 12 months or less or for which the
underlying asset is of low value are exempted from these requirements.

The accounting by lessors is substantially unchanged as the new standard carries forward the
principles of lessor accounting under IAS 17. Lessors, however, will be required to disclose more
information in their financial statements, particularly on the risk exposure to residual value.

The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Entities
may early adopt IFRS 16 but only if they have also adopted IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts
with Customers. When adopting IFRS 16, an entity is permitted to use either a full retrospective
or a modified retrospective approach, with options to use certain transition reliefs. The Group is
currently assessing the impact of the new standard on its consolidated financial statements.



4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash includes cash on hand and in banks. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less
and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Financial Instruments

Date of recognition

Financial instruments are recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace are recognized on the trade date.

Initial recognition

Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, which is the fair value of the consideration
given (in case of an asset) or received (in case of a liability). The initial measurement of financial
instruments, except for those designated at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL), includes
transaction costs.

Financial assets are classified in four categories: financial assets at FVPL, loans and receivables,
held-to-maturity (HTM) investments and available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets; while financial
liabilities are classified in two categories: financial liabilities at FVPL and other financial liabilities.
The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired and whether they
are quoted in an active market. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial
recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every reporting date.

Financial instruments are classified as liability or equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangement. Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument or a
component that is a financial liability, are reported as expense or income. Distributions to holders of
financial instruments classified as equity are charged directly to total liabilities and equity, net of any
related income tax benefits.

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Group does not have financial assets and liabilities at FVPL
and HTM investments.

Day 1 profit

Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other observable
current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables
include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the difference between the
transaction price and fair value (a “Day 1” profit) in profit or loss. In cases where no observable data
is used, the difference between the transaction price and model values is recognized in profit or loss
when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized. For each transaction, the
Group determines the appropriate method of recognizing the “Day 1” profit amount.



Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. They are not entered into with the intention of immediate or
short-term resale and are not designated as AFS financial assets or financial assets at FVPL.

Loans and receivables are carried at cost or amortized cost in the consolidated statement of financial
position. Amortization is determined using the effective interest rate method. Loans and receivables
are included in current assets if maturity is within twelve months from the reporting date. Otherwise,
these are classified as non-current assets.

This accounting policy relates to the Group’s “Cash and cash equivalents”, “Receivables”, “Due from
related parties” and “Refundable deposits”.

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in
any other categories. Subsequent to initial recognition, AFS financial assets are carried at fair value
in the consolidated statement of financial position. Changes in the fair value of such assets are
reported in OCI until the investment is derecognized or the investment is determined to be impaired.
Assets under this category are classified as current assets if maturity is within twelve months from the
end of the reporting date and as non-current assets if maturity date is more than a year from the end of
the reporting date.

When the fair value of AFS financial assets cannot be measured reliably because of lack of reliable
estimates of future cash flows and discount rates necessary to calculate the fair value of unquoted
equity instruments, these investments are carried at cost, less any allowance for impairment loss.

Classified under this category are the Group’s investments in unquoted club shares and redeemable
preferred shares carried at cost.

Other financial liabilities

This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held-for-trading or not designated at FVPL
upon the inception of the liability. These include liabilities arising from operations or loans and
borrowings.

The financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and are subsequently carried at amortized
cost, taking into account the impact of applying the effective interest rate method of amortization (or
accretion) for any related premium, discount and any directly attributable transaction costs.

This accounting policy applies to the Group’s “Accounts payable and other current liabilities”, “Due
to related parties” and other obligations that meet the above definition (other than liabilities covered
by other accounting standards).

Impairment of Financial Assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or
group of financial assets is impaired.
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Assets carried at amortized cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivable carried at amortized
cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset shall be
reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss shall be recognized in profit
or loss.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively
assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment of
impairment.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases, and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized
impairment loss is reversed, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its
amortized cost at the reversal date. Any subsequent reversal of impairment loss is recognized in
profit or loss.

AFS financial assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not
carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

The Group recognizes impairment losses on AFS equity investments when there has been a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of such investments below its cost or where other
objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgment. In determining whether the decline in value is significant, the Group considers
historical volatility of share price (i.e., the higher the historical volatility, the greater the decline in
fair value before it is likely to be regarded as significant) and the period of time over which the share
price has been depressed (i.e., a sudden decline is less significant than a sustained fall of the same
magnitude over a longer period).

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is derecognized when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

¢ the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement and either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
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(b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset or the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or
has expired. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a
new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss.

Offsetting of Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

Fair Value

Fair value is the estimated price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either:

¢ In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
* Inthe absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

Financial assets

The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the end of the reporting period is
based on their quoted market price or dealer price quotations, without any deduction for transaction
costs. When current market prices are not available, the price of the most recent transaction provides
evidence of the current fair value as long as there has not been a significant change in economic
circumstances since the time of the transaction. For all other financial instruments not listed in an
active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques. Valuation
techniques include net present value techniques, comparison to similar instruments for which market
observable prices exist, option pricing models, and other relevant valuation models.
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Non-financial assets

A fair value measurement of a nonfinancial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

Fair value hierarchy

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial
instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair
value are observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that
are not based on observable market data.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurrin g
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

The Group’s management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value
measurement, such as unquoted AFS financial assets, and for non-recurring fair value measurement.

At each reporting date, management analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities
which are required to be re-measured or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this
analysis, management verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the
information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents with relevant
external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on
the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value
hierarchy as explained above.

Other current assets

Creditable withholding taxes

Creditable withholding taxes represent amounts withheld by the Group’s counterparties in relation to
revenue earned. Subsequently, these amounts are applied against the income tax payable.

Prepayments

Prepayments represent expenses not yet incurred but already paid in cash. Prepayments are initially
recorded as assets and measured at the amount of cash paid. Subsequently, these are charged to profit
or loss as they are consumed in the operations or expire with the passage of time.

Investments in Associates and a Joint Venture

Associates are entities in which the Group has significant influence and which are neither subsidiaries
nor joint ventures of the Group. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.
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A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those
necessary to determine control over subsidiaries.

Investments in associates and joint venture are accounted for under the equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method, the investments in associates and joint venture are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share
of net assets of the associate, less dividends declared and impairment in value. If the Group’s share
of losses of an associate and joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group
discontinues recognizing its share of further losses. The interest in an associate and joint venture is
the carrying amount of the investment in the associate and joint venture under the equity method
together with any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the investor’s net investment in
the associate and joint venture. After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether
it is necessary to recognize any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s net investments in the
associates and joint venture. The consolidated statement of comprehensive income reflects the
Group’s share in the results of operations of the associates. This is included in the “Equity in net
earnings of associates and a joint venture” account in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. After the Group’s interest is reduced to zero, additional losses are provided to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

When there has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognizes
its share of any change and discloses this, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of chan ges

in equity.

The reporting dates of the associates, joint venture and the Group are identical and the accounting
policies of the associates and joint venture conform to those used by the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances.

Unrealized gains arising from intercompany transactions with its associates and joint venture are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate and joint venture. Unrealized losses
are eliminated similarly but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment of the asset
transferred.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associates, the Group measures and recognizes any
retaining investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associates
and joint venture upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retaining investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognized in profit or loss.



Current versus Non-current Classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in consolidated statement of financial position based on
current and non-current classification. An asset is current when it is:

e Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle

o Held primarily for the purpose of trading

e Expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period
or

o Cash or cash equivalents unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.
A liability is current when:

e Itis expected to be settled in normal operating cycle
It is held primarily for the purpose of trading

e Itis due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period
or

» There is unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after
the reporting period

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated

impairment in value. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of such property and equipment
when such cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Years
Transportation equipment 2-5
Office equipment 1-4
Furniture and fixtures 4

The useful lives, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the
period, residual value and method of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of
economic benefits from items of property and equipment.

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable.



When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related accumulated depreciation
and any impairment in value, are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is credited
to or charged against current operations.

Impairment of Non-financial Assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that a non-financial asset
may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is
required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell or its value in
use, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the
last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased
to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior
years. Such reversal is recognized in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in
which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase in OCI. After such a reversal, the
depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less
any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Investments in associates and joint venture

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize any
additional impairment loss with respect to the Group’s net investment in the investee companies. The
Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investments
in associates or jointly controlled entities are impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the
amount of impairment as being the difference between the Group’s share in the fair value and the

carrying value of the net assets of the investee company and recognizes the difference in profit or
loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The expense relating to any provision is presented in profit or loss net of any reimbursement. If the
effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate
that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as interest expense.
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Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account
contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty. The Group has concluded that it
is the principal in all of its revenue arrangements since it is the primary obligor in all the revenue
arrangements. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is
recognized.

Management consultancy fees and franchise fees
Management consultancy fees and franchise fees are recognized on an accrual basis in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the agreement.

Interest income

For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost and interest-bearing financial assets
classified as AFS, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR). EIR is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset or liability. Interest income is included in finance income in the consolidated statement of
income.

General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period

in the form of outflows or decrease of assets or incurrence of liabilities that result in decrease in
equity, other than those relating to distributions to equity participants. General and administrative
expenses are recognized in profit or loss in the period these are incurred.

Equity
Capital stock

Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued.

Additional paid-in capital
Additional paid-in capital represents capital contribution in excess of par value of the capital stock.

Other Reserves

Reserves pertaining to other comprehensive income comprises items of income and expense
(including items previously presented under the consolidated statement of changes in equity) that are
not recognized in the consolidated statement of income for the year in accordance with PFRS. Other
comprehensive income includes remeasurement gains or losses on the Group’s retirement benefits
and the share of the Group on actuarial gain of its associates and joint venture.

Retained earnings

Retained earnings represent the cumulative balance of net income or loss of the Group, net of any
dividend declaration.



Treasury shares

Treasury shares are recorded at cost and presented as a deduction from equity. When the shares are
retired, the capital stock account is reduced by its par value and the excess of cost over par value upon
retirement is deducted from additional paid-in capital to the extent of the specific or average
additional paid-in capital when the shares were issued and from retained earnings for the remaining
balance.

Other Comprehensive Income

Other comprehensive income comprises of items of income and expense that are not recognized in
profit or loss for the year in accordance with PFRS. Other comprehensive income of the Group
pertains to remeasurements comprising actuarial gain on defined benefit plan assets and share on
actuarial gains of its associates and joint venture.

Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease, is based on the substance of the
arrangement at inception date whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a
specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. Reassessment is made
after the inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:

(a) there is a change in the contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement;

(b) arenewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless the term of the renewal and extension
was initially included in the lease term;

(c) there is a change in the determination of whether the fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset;
or

(d) there is a substantial change to the asset.

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date of the change
in circumstances that gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) and (d) above and at the date
of renewal or extension period for scenario (b).

Group as a lessee

Lease of assets under which the lessor effectively retains all the risks and rewards of ownership is
classified as operating lease. Lease payments under an operating lease are recognized as an income
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Foreign Currency Transactions

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso, which is the Group’s
functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate ruling at the
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at reporting date. All differences are
taken to the profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction.

Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rate at the date when the fair value was determined.
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For income tax reporting purposes, foreign exchange gains or losses are treated as taxable income or
deductible expense in the period they are realized.

Retirement Cost

The Group has a funded, non-contributory retirement plan, administered by a trustee, coverin g its
regular employees. The net pension liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the
defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets (if
any), adjusted for any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling. The asset
ceiling is the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan. Retirement cost is actuarially determined using the
projected unit credit method. This method reflects service rendered by employees to the date of
valuation and incorporates assumptions concerning employees’ projected salaries.

Defined retirement costs comprise the following:

(a) Service costs
(b) Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset
(¢) Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-
routine settlements are recognized as expense in profit or loss. Past service costs are recognized when
plan amendment or curtailment occurs. These amounts are calculated periodically by independent
qualified actuaries.

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net
defined benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying
the discount rate based on the risk-free interest rates of government bonds that have terms to maturity
approximating the terms of the related net defined benefit liability. Net interest on the net defined
benefit liability or asset is recognized as interest expense or interest income in profit or loss.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses and return on plan assets (excluding net
interest on defined benefit liability) are recognized immediately in OCI under “Actuarial gain on
defined benefit plan” in the period in which they arise. Remeasurements are not recycled to profit or
loss in subsequent periods.

Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund. Plan assets are not
available to the creditors of the Group, nor can they be paid directly to the Group. Fair value of plan
assets is based on market price information. When no market price is available, the fair value of plan
assets is estimated by discounting expected future cash flows using a discount rate that reflects both
the risk associated with the plan assets and the maturity or expected disposal date of those assets (or,
if they have no maturity, the expected period until the settlement of the related obligations). If the fair
value of the plan assets is higher than the present value of the defined benefit obligation, the
measurement of the resulting net pension asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.
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Short-term Employee Benefits

Short-term employee benefits include items such as salaries and wages, social security contributions
and nonmonetary benefits, if expected to be settled wholly within twelve months after the end of the
reporting period in which the employees rendered the related services. Short-term employee benefits
are recognized as expense as incurred. When an employee has rendered service to the Group during
the reporting period, the Group recognizes the undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits

expected to be paid in exchange for that service as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any
amount already paid.

Taxes

Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that
have been enacted or substantively enacted as at the reporting date.

Current income tax relating to items directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in the
consolidated statement of income.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on temporary differences at the reporting date
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, with certain exceptions.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward benefits of
excess minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable income will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at
each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable
income will allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rate that is expected to apply to the year
when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted as of reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or loss.
Deferred tax items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly

in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities, and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
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and the same taxation authority.

Value-Added Tax (VAT)
Expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT except:

» where the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax
authority, in which case the tax is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense item as applicable; and

e receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of tax included.

The net amount of tax recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included as part of other

current assets or payables in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Basic/Diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS)

EPS is computed by dividing net income for the year attributable to common shareholders by the
weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding during the year, with retroactive
adjustments for any stock dividends declared.

Operating Segments

The Group’s operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the nature of
the products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that
offers different products and serves different markets. Financial information on business segments is
presented in Note 23.

Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. These are disclosed

unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent
assets are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but are disclosed when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable.

Events after the Reporting Date

Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s position at reporting date
(adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Post year-end events that are
not adjusting events are disclosed in the consolidated financial statements when material.

Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with PFRS
requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported
in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. The estimates and assumptions
used in the accompanying consolidated financial statements are based upon management’s evaluation
of relevant facts and circumstances as of the date of the financial statements. Actual results could
differ from such estimates.

Judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following
Jjudgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
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amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements:

Assessment of control

The Group has determined that it has no control over its investments in associates as it has no power
over these investees or it is not exposed or does not have rights to variable returns from its
involvement with these investees and it does not have the ability to effect the amount of these variable
returns. However, the Group determined that it has significant influence over these investments, thus
these investments are classified as associates and is continuously accounted for by the Group using
the equity method in its consolidated financial statements.

Moreover, the Group is a part owner of an investment in a joint venture where the Group has
determined that it does not control the investee and the ownership is shared with the other owner.
The Group and the other owner have joint control and rights over the net assets of the investment.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group has (after considering the structure and form of the arrangement, the terms agreed by the
parties in the contractual arrangement and the Group's rights and obligations arising from the
arrangement) classified its interest as joint ventures, thus the Group continues to account for this
investment using the equity method.

Operating leases - Group as lessee

The Group has entered into commercial property leases related to its office spaces. Substantially, all
the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased items are not transferred to the Group.
Total rent expense charged to operations amounted to 1.6 million, 1.5 million and

£1.4 million in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively (see Notes 16 and 21).

Impairment of financial assets not quoted in an active market

The Group assesses impairment on its financial assets not quoted in an active market whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
Among others, the factors that the Group considers important which could trigger an impairment
review on its investment in unquoted securities include the following:

e Deteriorating or poor financial condition

e Recurring net losses; and,

* Significant changes with an adverse effect on the associate have taken place during the period, or
will take place in the near future, on the technological, market, economic, or legal environment in
which the investees operate.

No impairment indicators were identified in 2015 and 2014. The carrying values of AFS financial
assets not quoted in an active market amounted to £79.5 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014
(see Note 9).

Impairment of investment in associates and joint venture

The Group assesses impairment on its investments in associates and joint venture whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. The
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Group recognizes an impairment loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount.

This requires the Group to make estimates and assumptions that can materially affect the consolidated
financial statements. Future events could cause the Group to conclude that these assets are impaired.
Any resulting additional impairment loss could have a material adverse impact on the Group’s
financial condition and results of operations.

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Group did not recognize any impairment loss on its
investment in associates and joint ventures. The carrying value of investments in associates and joint
venture as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 amounted to £1,345.6 million and £1,332.9 million,
respectively (see Note 10).

Estimates and Assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty as of the
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial years, are discussed below:

Allowance for doubtful accounts

The Group maintains allowance for doubtful accounts on its receivables at a level adequate to provide
for any potential uncollectible receivables. The level of this allowance is regularly evaluated by the
Group. The Group assesses whether objective impairment exists for the receivable by considering the
financial condition and credit history of the counterparty. Moreover, the Group also considers its
historical loss experience in assessing collective impairment of receivables. The Group reviews the
status of the receivables and identifies amounts that are to be provided with allowance on a
continuous basis. The amount and timing of recorded expenses for any period would differ if the
Group made different judgments or utilized different estimates. An increase in the Group’s allowance
for doubtful accounts on receivables would increase the Group’s recorded expenses and decrease
current assets.

Receivables amounted to 6.7 million and 5.2 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. Due from related parties amounted to 108.7 million and £192.9 million as of
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. No allowance was provided for these receivables as of
December 31, 2015 and 2014 (see Notes 7 and 15).

Provisions

The estimate of the probable costs for the resolution of possible claims has been developed in
consultation with outside counsel handling the Group’s defense in these matters and is based upon an
analysis of potential results. Provisions for estimated losses on claims by a third party amounted to
nil and £2.1 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 (see Note 19).

Retirement benefits

The cost of defined benefit pension plans and the present value of the pension obligation are
determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves using various assumptions.
These include the determination of the discount rates, future salary increases and mortality rates. Due
to the complexity of the valuation, the underlying assumptions and its long-term nature, defined
benefit obligations are highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. The significant assumptions

- 50 -



are reviewed at each reporting date. The present value of defined benefit obligation as of December
31,2015 and 2014 amounted to 1.1 million and 21.3 million, respectively (see Note 17). The net
pension asset as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 amounted to 0.6 million and 20.3 million,
respectively (see Note 17).

In determining the appropriate discount rate, management considers the interest rates of government
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, with extrapolated
maturities corresponding to the expected duration of the defined benefit obligation.

The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the specific country and is
modified accordingly with estimates of mortality improvements. Future salary increases are based on
expected future inflation rates for the specific country.

Further details about the assumptions used are provided in Note 17.

Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses and credits to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant management
Jjudgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based
upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies.

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, recognized deferred tax assets amounted to 0.6 million and P
0.7 million, respectively. The amount of unrecognized deferred tax assets amounted to
£19.8 million and £15.6 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively (see Note 18).

Cash and Cash Equivalents

This account consists of:

2015 2014
Petty cash fund £35,000 £35,000
Cash in banks 7,557,234 22,393,201
Cash equivalents 199,324,079 129,070,453

£206,916,313 P151,498,654

Cash in banks earns interest at the prevailing bank deposit rates which range from 0.25% to 0.75% in
2015 and 2014. Cash equivalents are short-term deposits made for varying periods of up to three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at the
respective short-term deposit rates that range from 0.525% to 0.875% and 0.52% to 0.67% in 2015
and 2014, respectively.

Interest income from cash and cash equivalents amounted £1.0 million, 20.6 million and
P2.5 million in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.



7. Receivables

This account consists of:

2015 2014

Non-trade B2,666,664 2,666,664
Receivable from employees 3,235,487 2,490,306
Interest 105,841 14,185
Other (Note 15) 655,742 -
£6,663,734 B5,171,155

Non-trade receivable pertains to the receivable arising from an agreement of the Group with a third
party entered on October 24, 2013 to sell its fully depreciated investment properties, payment

of which is receivable in equal amounts for twenty-four (24) months. It was agreed by the Group and
the debtor that the remaining unpaid receivable is to be collected in 2016 (see Note 11).

Receivable from employees represents non-interest bearing loans granted to employees that are
collected through salary deduction. Receivable from employees are collectible within one year.

Interest pertains to accrued interest on short-term deposits and is collectible within one year.

8. Other Current Assets

This account consists of:

2015 2014
Creditable withholding taxes £16,717,166 P16,395,361
Prepayments 2,286,481 2,598,950
Others 718,584 510,397

$19,722,231 P£19,504,708

Creditable withholding taxes pertain to the amounts withheld by the Group’s counterparties in
relation to the management consultancy fees. Management determined that these creditable
withholding taxes will still be utilized in the future.

Prepayments include advance rental deposits amounting to 0.9 million for one year which arose
from the transfer of the Group’s office to a temporary address due to the ongoing reconstruction of its
principal office in 2015 (see Note 21).



9. Available-for-Sale Financial Assets

This account consists of unquoted investments as follows:

2015 2014
Preferred equity securities $79,287,230 £79,287,230
Ungquoted Club shares 225,000 225,000

£79,512,230 P79,512,230

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, unquoted AFS financial assets amounting to 79.5 million are
carried at cost.

Preferred shares pertain to investments in Opon Ventures, Inc. (OVI) and Opon KE Properties, Inc.
(OKEP) in 2012 that are classified as AFS financial assets.

The features and conditions of the redeemable preferred shares are as follows:

* Non-voting, except for the cases provided for under Section 6, Paragraph 6 of the Corporation
Code of the Philippines.

» The redeemable preferred shares shall be entitled to preference in the distribution of dividends at
a fixed yield of (3%) per annum. After payment of such preferred dividends, the holders of such
preferred shares shall be entitled to participate pro rata with holders of common shares in the
remaining profits.

* Redeemed at the option of the issuer, in full or in part, within a period of (10) years from date of
issuance, at a price to be determined by the BOD.

» If the preferred shares are not redeemed within the period of ten (10) years, the holder shall have
the option to:

i. Convert the preferred shares to participating preferred shares;
ii. Remain as redeemable preferred shares for another five (5) years, after which the holder can
choose to convert to either Common Shares or Participating Preferred shares.

The preferred shares shall be issued at ten pesos (10) per share.



10. Investments in Associates and a Joint Venture

The details and movements of this account are as follows:

2015 2014
Cost £806,321,443 £806,321,443
Accumulated equity in net earnings
Presented in profit or loss
At January 1 526,217,429 510,694,320
Dividend received - (4,800,000)
Presented in profit or loss 12,552,560 20,323,109
At December 31 538,769,989 526,217,429
Presented in OCI
At January 1 408,371 453,248
OClI 66,707 (44,877)
At December 31 475,078 408,371

P1,345,566,510 $1,332,947,243

Dividend received pertains to 40% of the dividends declared by Opon Realty and Development
Corporation (ORDC) on April 30, 2014 amounting to £12.0 million or 1.20 per share, which was
paid on December 10, 2014.

The carrying values of the Group’s investments in associates and a joint venture and the related
percentages of ownership are shown below:

Percentage of Ownership Carrying Amount

2015 2014 2015 2014
Associates
Buena Homes (Sandoval) Inc. (BHSI) 40% 40% £160,710,272 P159,292,459
Opon-KE Properties, Inc. (OKEP) 40 40 90,058,608 88,896,516
Opon Ventures, Inc. (OVI) 40 40 22,597,247 21,975,773
ORDC 40 40 14,995,868 14,689,833
Joint Venture
SMKL 40 40 1,057,204,515 1,048,092,662

P1,345,566,510  £1,332,947,243

The reconciliation of the associates’ and joint venture’s net assets multiplied by the ownership
interest and the carrying amount of each investments is shown in the table below:

December 31, 2015
BHSI OKEP OVI ORDC SMKL
Net assets P401,775,680 P270,998,814 P118,259,335 P13,692,674 $2,274,391,991
Effective ownership interest 40% 40% 40% 40% 40%
160,710,272 108,399,526 47,303,734 5,477,070 909,756,796
Available-for-sale (Note 9) - (31,287,230) (48,000,000) - -
Fair value adjustments — 12,946,312 23,293,513 9,518,798 147,447,719

£160,710,272 P£90,058,608 $22,597,247 P14,995,868 P1,057,204,515
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December 31, 2014

BHSI OKEP OVI ORDC SMKL
Net assets £398,231,148  P263,952,788  P118,448,790 P13,859,802 $£2,252,298,362
Effective ownership interest 40% 40% 40% 40% 40%
159,292,459 105,581,115 47,379,516 5,543,921 900,919,345
Available-for-sale (Note 9) - (31,287,230) (48,000,000) - -
Fair value adjustments — 14,602,631 22,596,257 9,145,912 147,173,317
P159,292.459 288,896,516 P21,975,773 P14,689,833 P1,048,092,662

The Group’s associates and joint venture were all incorporated in the Philippines. BHSI is involved
in the construction of residential condominium project. The primary purpose of the Group’s other

associates is to acquire by purchase, lease, and to own, use, improve, develop, subdivide, sell,
mortgage, exchange, lease, develop and hold for investment or otherwise, real estate of all kinds.
SMKL’s primary business activity is operating a retail mall, which has one hundred and forty
specialty stores and a state of the art cinema.

BHSI

In 2015, Phinma Property Holdings Corporation (PPHC) started developing the parcel of land owned
by BHSI. PPHC is committed to pay a guaranteed amount of £50.7 million for this parcel of land

with a carrying value of B61.3 million.

Significant financial information of the associates follows:

December 31, 2015
BHSI OKEP OVI ORDC
(In Millions)
Current assets P467.7 £56.9 P0.3 P4.8
Non-current assets 4.6 336.3 119.8 81.9
Total Assets 472.3 393.2 120.1 86.7
Current liabilities 49.5 126.9 1.9 73.1
Non-current liabilities 20.8 — — -
Total Liabilities 70.3 126.9 1.9 73.1
Gross revenue P149.3 P28 P E
Cost and expenses - net (149.2) (0.4) 0.2) (0.2)
Profit (loss) before income tax 0.1 24 0.2) 0.2)
Net profit (loss) 34 2.3 0.2) 0.2)
Other comprehensive income - - - -
Total comprehensive income 34 2.3 0.2) 0.2)
December 31, 2014
BHSI OKEP OVI ORDC
(In Millions)

Current assets B555.9 B57.1 P0.3 B5.0
Non-current assets 0.7 333.6 119.8 93.9
Total Assets 556.6 390.7 120.1 98.9
Current liabilities 1524 126.7 1.7 73.1
Non-current liabilities 5.7 — — —
Total Liabilities 158.1 126.7 1.7 73.1

(Forward)
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December 31, 2014

BHSI OKEP OVl ORDC

Gross revenue 41.0 8.2 - 0.1
Cost and expenses - net (15.9) (0.2) (0.2) (1.4)
Profit (loss) before income tax 25.1 8.0 0.2) (1.3)
Net profit (loss) 22.6 8.0 0.2) (1.3)
Other comprehensive income - - - -
Total comprehensive income 22.6 - - -
SMKI,

SMKL is executing improvements and upgrading works to sustain its retail mall’s growth and appeal
as a premier shopping and lifestyle destination. Expansion of the retails mall is underway, with plans
to add 34,000 sqm of leasable retail space, resulting in total leasable retail space of about 50,000 sqm.
Construction of the retail mall expansion commenced in 2014 and is expected to be completed in
2017.

Significant financial information of the joint venture follows:

2015 2014
(In Millions)

Current assets, including cash and cash equivalents

P309.2 million (2014: £1,278.53 million) £923.4 P1,380.5
Non-current assets 1,749.6 1,103.2
Total Assets 2,673.0 2,483.7
Current liabilities, including tax payable

P0.3 million (2014: nil) 261.9 115.1
Non-current liabilities, including deferred tax

Liabilities £0.03 million (2014: £0.03 million) 31.6 27.0
Total Liabilities 293.5 142.1
Gross revenue B177.1 P186.7
Cost of sales (80.0) (89.3)
Administrative expenses, including depreciation

and amortization £19.8 million

(2014: £19.5 million) (66.8) (75.8)
Profit before income tax 303 21.6
Income tax expense (8.1 (5.5
Net profit 22.2 16.1
Other comprehensive income (loss) 0.1 (0.1)
Total comprehensive income 22.3 16.0

The associate had no contingent liabilities or capital commitments as at December 31, 2015 and 2014.

11. Investment Properties

The Group’s investment properties pertain to two (2) condominium units in Cebu.



On October 24, 2013, the Group, through its buyback agreement, sold these fully depreciated
condominium units for P4.0 million, inclusive of 0.4 million output VAT. The gain on sale of the
investment properties amounting to 3.6 million was included in profit or loss.

Payment is receivable in equal amounts for twenty-four (24) months. Collections in 2014 amounted to
P1.0 million, inclusive of 20.1 million output VAT and collections in 2013 amounted to £0.3 million,
inclusive of £0.03 million output VAT. It was agreed by the Group and the debtor that the remaining
unpaid receivable is to be collected in 2016 (see Note 7).

The Group recognized rental income on these investment properties amounting to nil in 2015 and
2014 and $0.18 million in 2013.

. Property and Equipment

The rollforward analyses of this account are as follows:

2015
Transportation Office Furniture

Equipment Equipment and Fixtures Total
Cost
At January 1 1,404,506 P1,806,273 P2,405,645 PB5,616,424
Additions - 16,535 - 16,535
At December 31 1,404,506 1,822,808 2,405,645 5,632,959
Accumulated Depreciation
At January 1 P1,404,506 1,501,560 P2,402,878 P5,308,944
Depreciation (Note 16) - 137,014 2,749 139,763
At December 31 1,404,506 1,638,574 2,405,627 5,448,707
Net Book Value P P184,234 P18 P184,252

2014
Transportation Office Furniture
Equipment Equipment and Fixtures Total

Cost
At January 1 1,404,506 3,511,494 P2,435,459 P7,351,459
Additions - 156,522 - 156,522
Retirement — (1,861,743) (29,814) (1,891,557)
At December 31 1,404,506 1,806,273 2,405,645 5,616,424
Accumulated Depreciation
At January 1 1,404,502 3,222,475 2,411,062 7,038,039
Depreciation (Note 16) 4 140,828 21,630 162,462
Retirement - (1,861,743) (29,814) (1,891,557)
At December 31 1,404,506 1,501,560 2,402,878 5,308,944
Net Book Value P P304,713 P2,767 P307,480

Depreciation expense charged against operations amounted to 0.1 million in 2015,
£0.2 million in 2014 and 20.9 million in 2013 (see Note 16). Cost of fully depreciated property and
equipment still being used amounted to 5.2 million and 4.6 million as of December 31, 2015 and
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2014, respectively. The Group retired its fully-depreciated property and equipment amounting to £
1.89 million in 2014.

13.

Accounts Payable and Other Current Liabilities

This account consists of:

2015 2014

Accrued expenses P3,965,256 P3,518,649

Taxes payable 1,829,519 1,403,967

Trade 577,409 66,626
(Forward)

Dividends payable 553,981 553,981

£6,926,165 5,543,223

Accrued expenses pertain to accruals on consultancy fees, salaries and other employee benefits and
professional fees. Accrued expenses and other payables are payable within 30 to 60 days.

In 2015, portion of the bonus accrued in 2014 amounting to 2.4 million has been reversed. The
reversal is based on the Parent Company’s assessment of estimated amount to be required to settle the
liability. The gain arising from this reversal is presented as ‘Gain on reversal of liability and
provision” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Trade accounts payable represent payables to suppliers and are normally settled within one year.

Taxes payable pertain to taxes withheld for transactions subject to withholding tax which are
subsequently remitted within one month after the reporting date.

Dividends payable pertain to amounts declared when the Parent Company’s name was still Cebu
Shipyard and Engineering Works, Inc. but which have not been claimed by the respective
shareholders to date.

14. Equity

a. Capital Stock

The details of the authorized capital stock of the Parent Company as of December 31, 2015 and
2014 are as follows:

Common stock - 1 par value 375,000,000
Preferred stock - 1 par value 135,700,000
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Issued and outstanding shares of the Parent Company as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as
follows:

Number of shares Amount
Common stock - issued 296,629,900 £296,629,900
Treasury shares (2,801,000) (2,667,645)
Common stock - outstanding 293,828,900 £293,962,255
Preferred stock 59,474,100 59,474,100

Preferred shares, which were issued on November 11, 2003, are redeemable in full or in part at
the option of the Parent Company. No preferred shares have been redeemed in 2015 and 2014.

Preferred stockholders have preference over common stockholders with respect to the distribution
of assets upon dissolution but not with respect to the payment of dividends.

Preferred stockholders are not entitled to dividends. Moreover, no voting right is vested on the
preferred stockholders, except for the cases provided for under Section 6, Paragraph 6 of the
Corporation Code (Code) of the Philippines as follows: '

i. Amendment of the articles of incorporation;
ii. Adoption and amendment of by-laws;
iii. Sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge or other disposition of all or substantially all of the
corporate property;
iv. Incurring, creating or increasing bonded indebtedness;
v. Increase or decrease of capital stock;
vi. Merger or consolidation of the corporation with another corporation or other corporations;
vil. Investment of corporate funds in another corporation or business in accordance with this
Code; and
viii. Dissolution of the corporation.

On October 6, 2010, the BOD authorized the amendment of its articles of incorporation,
particularly Article 7 to read as follows:

Preferred shares may be redeemed in full or in part, at the option of the issuer, within a call period
of seven (7) years from the date of approval of the amended articles. The redemption price will
be equivalent to the issue price with an annual premium to be approved by the BOD. Likewise,
the fairness of the annual premium rate must be confirmed by an independent financial advisor.
The issue price will be B10 per share.

The above amendments were approved by the stockholders on November 26, 2010.



Additional paid-in capital

The “Additional paid-in capital” presented in the consolidated statements of financial position
and consolidated statements of changes in equity as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as
follows:

Common stock P67,618,617
Preferred stock 535,266,900

P602,885,517

Retained earnings

The portion of retained earnings corresponding to the undistributed equity in net earnings of the
associates and joint venture amounted to 538.8 million, £526.2 million and

£510.7 million as of December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. These amounts are not
available for distribution as dividends until declared by the associates and joint venture (Note 10).
Retained earnings are further restricted to the extent of 2.7 million representing the cost of
shares held in treasury as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.

Other reserves

Other reserves pertain to items of OCI that will not be recycled to profit or loss. These include
actuarial gain on defined benefit plan, net of tax, amounting to 20.46 million and

£0.24 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and share on actuarial gain of an
associate and a joint venture amounting to 20.48 million as of December 31, 2015 and

P0.41 million as of December 31, 2014 (Note 10).

The weighted average number of shares outstanding as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 is as
follows:

Issued shares 296,629,900
Less treasury shares 2,801,000
Weighted average number of shares (Note 20) 293,828,900

In accordance with SRC Rule 68, as Amended (2011), Annex 68-D, below is a summary of the
Parent Company’s track record of registration of securities.

Number of Number of holders Number of holders

shares Issue/offer of securities as of  of securities as of

registered price Date of approval December 31,2015 December 31, 2014
Common 293,828,900 Pl September 11, 1989 1,256 1,259

15.

Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if it has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control
the Group or exercise significant influence over the Group in making financial and operating
decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group and the party are subject to common control. Related
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parties may be individuals (being members of key management personnel and/or their close family
members) or other entities and include entities which are under the significant influence of related
parties of the Group where those parties are individuals, and post-employment benefit plans which are

for the benefit of employees of the Group or of any entity that is a related party of the Group.

Outstanding balances of transactions with related parties are as follows:

2015
Outstanding
Category Amount Balance Terms Conditions
Due from '
Associates
Non-interest-bearing, Unsecured,
BHSI (d) P1,645,341 $35,733,200 due and demandable no impairment
Non-interest-bearing, Unsecured,
OKEP (e) 152,227 70,258,967 due and demandable no impairment
Non-interest-bearing, Unsecured,
ORDC (a) 150,668 179,222 30-t0-60 days no impairment
Non-interest-bearing, Unsecured,
OVI (b) 155,587 1,766,833 30-t0-60 days no impairment
(Forward)
Joint venture
Non-interest-bearing Unsecured,
SMKL (c) 17,030,922 785,796 30-t0-60 days no impairment
P108,724,018
Due to
Associates
Non-interest-bearing,
BHSI () P P£83,701,493 due and demandable Unsecured
Non-interest-bearing,
OKEP (f) - 40,298,507 due and demandable Unsecured
£124,000,000
201
Outstanding
Category Amount Balance Terms Conditions
Due from
Associates
Non-interest-bearing, Unsecured,
BHSI (d) P74,592 PR107,274,592 due and demandable no impairment
Non-interest-bearing, Unsecured,
OKEP (¢) 103,740 70,106,740 due and demandable no impairment
Non-interest-bearing, Unsecured,
ORDC (a) 28,554 28,554 30-t0-60 days no impairment
Non-interest-bearing, Unsecured,
OVI (b) 131,256 1,611,246 30-to-60 days no impairment
Joint venture
Non-interest-bearing Unsecured,
SMKL (c) 13,202,960 . 13,843,962 30-t0-60 days no impairment
£192,865,094
(Forward)
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Outstanding

Category Amount Balance Terms Conditions
Due to
Associates

. Non-interest-bearing,

BHSI (f) P P83,701,493 due and demandable Unsecured
Non-interest-bearing,

OKEP (f) — 40,298,507 due and demandable Unsecured

124,000,000

The Group entered into various management and franchise agreements with related parties as follows:

2015
Outstanding
Category Amount Balance Terms Conditions
Joint venture
SMKL
receivable within 30 Unsecured,
Management fee (c) 3,621,923 P to 60 days no impairment
receivable within 30 Unsecured,
Franchise fee (c) 1,448,769 - to 60 days no impairment
Other related parties
SMPM
payable within 30 to
Management fee (g) 14,117,977 - 60 days Unsecured
KLIL
payable within 30 to
Management fee (h) 1,847,031 - 60 days Unsecured
201
Outstanding
Category Amount Balance Terms Conditions
Joint venture
SMKL
receivable within 30 Unsecured,
Management fee (c) P3,957,872 P351,864 to 60 days no impairment
receivable within 30 Unsecured,
Franchise fee (c) 1,583,148 133,491 to 60 days no impairment
Associate
ORDC
receivable within 30 Unsecured,
Management fee (a) $£1,200,000 P to 60 days no impairment
Other related party
KLIL
payable within 30 to
Management fee (h) 6,543,837 - 60 days Unsecured

Significant transactions with related parties are as follows:

(a) The Parent Company provides management, advisory and consultancy services to ORDC. The
amount of management fees charged by the Parent Company for accounting and tax management
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amounted to nil in 2015 and P1.2 million in 2014 and 2013. No management fee charge in 2015
is due to the expiration of management contract between the Parent Company and ORDC in 2014
and both have agreed that no fee will be charged for management, advisory and consultancy
services to be provided by the Parent Company to ORDC. Management fee is equivalent to

£0.1 million per month. In 2015, the Parent Company made operating advances for expenses
incurred by ORDC amounting to 0.2 million in 2015. These advances remain unpaid as of
December 31, 2015.

(b) The Parent Company made operating advances for expenses incurred by OVI that amounted to 2

(c)

0.2 million and £0.1million in 2015 and 2014, respectively. The Parent Company provides
accounting, management, and other administrative functions to OVI. Outstanding receivable
from OVI amounted to £1.8 million and 1.6 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively.

The Parent Company provides management, advisory and consultancy services to SMKL. As of
December 31, 2015 and 2014, outstanding receivable from SMKL for management and franchise
fees included in “Due from related parties” amounted to nil and £0.6 million, respectively. The
amount of management fee charged by the Parent Company to SMKL amounted to £3.6 million,
P4.0 million and £5.7 million in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The amount of franchise fee
charged amounted to 1.4 million, 1.6 million and £2.3 million in 2015, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. Management fee is charged at 2.5% of annual net revenues of SMKL and franchise
fee is charged at 1.0% of net revenues of SMKL. Moreover, the Parent Company made operating
advances for expenses incurred by SMKL that amounted to 17.0 million and £13.2 million in
2015 and 2014, respectively. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, outstanding receivable from
SMKL for operating advances made included in “Due from related parties” amounted to £0.8
million and R13.2 million, respectively.

(d) The Parent Company has intercompany loans to BHSI. BHSI partially paid its loans to KPPI

(e

®

amounting to £71.5 million in 2015. Intercompany loans that are still outstanding as of
December 31, 2015 amounted to £35.7 million. The Parent Company also made operating
advances for expenses incurred by BHSI that amounted to 1.6 million and £0.1 million in 2015
and 2014, respectively. These operating advances have been fully paid as of December 31, 2015.

The Parent Company made operating advances for expenses incurred by OKEP that amounted to
P0.1million in 2015 and 2014. Operating advances which remain unpaid as of December 31,
2015 and 2014 amounted to £70.3 million and £70.1 million, respectively.

On December 22, 2011, the BOD approved BHSI’s plan to decrease its authorized capital stock.
In January 2012, the Parent Company received from BHSI an amount of 100 million, thereby
decreasing BHI and OKEP’s advances from the Parent Company by £59.7 million and £40.3
million, respectively. These amounts are recorded as intercompany advances in the consolidated
statement of financial position. BHSI has filed with SEC the amendments to its articles of
incorporation and by-laws to include the above decrease in authorized capital. In 2014, BHI
received additional advances amounting to £24.0 million from BHSI, thereby increasing the
BHI’s advances from the Parent Company to P83.7 million. As of February 23, 2016, the
application is pending approval from the SEC.
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(g) Straits Mansfield Property Marketing (SMPM), an entity under common control, provides
consultancy, advisory and support services to the Parent Company and SMKL. Consultancy fees
charged by SMPM to the Parent Company amounted to 14.1 million in 2015. There were no
outstanding payable to SMPM as of December 31, 2015. The basis of management fee is the
time spent by SMPM personnel in rendering services.

(h) Keppel Land International Limited (KLIL), an entity under common control, provides
consultancy, advisory and support services to the Parent Company and SMKL. In 2015,
consultancy, advisory and support services were provided by KLIL from January to March and
by SMPM from April to December. Consultancy fees charged by KLIL to the Parent Company
amounted to 1.8 million and £6.5 million in 2015 and 2014, respectively. As of December 31,
2015 and 2014, the Parent Company has no outstanding payable to KLIL. The basis of
management fee is the time spent by KLIL personnel in rendering services.

(i) In 2015, the Parent Company charged Keppel Land Limited (KLLL) for the amount paid on behalf
of KLL for legal fees amounting to 0.66 million pertaining to CTA filing for redemption of
preferred shares. Advances for KLL amounting to £0.66 million remain unpaid as of December
31, 2015. This receivable is presented under “Other” in “Receivables” in the consolidated

statements of financial position.

Compensation of Key Management Personnel of the Group

Details of the compensation of key management personnel of the Group are as follows:

2015 2014 2013
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits P7,049,066 P5,462,715 £3,999,981
Bonuses and allowances 1,103,561 768,588 529,009
Post-employment benefits 175,649 163,356 117,859
£8,328,276 $£6,394,659 P4,646,849
16. General and Administrative Expenses
This account consists of:
2015 2014 2013
Management consultancy fee (Note 15) £15,965,008 6,543,837 6,066,919
Salaries, wages and employee benefits (Note 15) 11,251,521 9,109,514 7,443,363
Professional fees 2,523,589 3,222,905 2,550,888
Rental (Note 21) 1,570,985 1,526,761 1,368,924
Transportation and travel 1,257,452 1,002,208 967,507
Membership and dues 553,280 574,600 547,580
Postage, printing and advertising 519,020 550,510 539,266
Insurance 548,865 500,300 238,464
Utilities 465,285 439,099 458,277
Taxes and licenses 421,749 374,755 807,490
(Forward)
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2015 2014 2013

Repairs and maintenance 234,437 366,053 333,175
Retirement benefits (Note 17) 228,115 233,366 178,574
Staff recreation and others 149,221 282,573 171,753
Depreciation (Note 12) 139,763 162,462 864,062
Supplies 175,379 160,952 168,067
Bank and other charges 78,161 76,194 54,244
Security and other services - 11,636 81,437
Others 254,005 316,700 518,850

P36,335,835 P25,454,425 P23,358,840

Other expenses pertain to storage costs, retainers’ fee and out-of-pocket expenses for professional
services.

17.

Retirement Benefits

The Group has a funded, non-contributory defined benefit retirement plan, administered by BDO
Unibank, Inc.-Trust and Investment Group (Trustee), covering its regular employees. The Group is
under the KPPI Multi-employer Retirement Plan.

The Group’s annual contribution to the plan consists principally of payments which covers the current
service cost for the year and the required funding relative to the guaranteed minimum benefits as
applicable. The funds are administered by the Trustee under the supervision of the Board of Trustees
(BOT) of the plan which delegates the implementation of the investment policy to the Trustee. These
funds are subject to the investment objectives and guidelines established by the Trustee and rules and
regulations issued by Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas covering assets under trust and fiduciary
agreements. The Trustee is responsible for the investment strategy of the plan.

The latest actuarial valuation date of the Group’s retirement plan is as of December 31, 2015.

Republic Act 7641, The New Retirement Law, requires a provision for retirement pay to qualified
private sector employees in the absence of any retirement plan in the entity. The law does not require
minimum funding of the plan.

The following tables summarize the components of plan expense recognized in profit or loss and the
funded status and amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position for the
plan:

2015
Present value of
defined benefit Fair value Net pension
obligation of plan assets liability (asset)
At January 1 1,346,784 (P1,644,999) (B298,215)
Benefit cost in profit or loss
Current service cost 228,115 - 228,115
Net interest expense (income) 60,605 (74,025) (13,420)
(Forward)
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2015

Present value of

defined benefit Fair value Net pension
obligation of plan assets liability (asset)
Remeasurements in OCI
Actuarial loss on plan assets - 39,525 39,525
Actuarial gain on defined benefit
obligation due to:
Financial assumption (106,921) - (106,921)
Experience adjustments (249,338) - (249,338)
Benefits paid (201,143) 201,143 -
Contributions - (176,527) (176,527)
At December 31 P£1,078,102 (£1,654,883) (B576,781)
2014
Present value of
defined benefit Fair value Net pension
obligation of plan assets liability (asset)
At January 1 P1,189,454 (21,518,071) (P328,617)
Benefit cost in profit or loss
Current service cost 233,366 — 233,366
Net interest expense (income) 48,173 (61,482) (13,309)
Remeasurements in OCI
Actuarial loss on plan assets — 87,455 87.455
Actuarial gain on defined benefit
obligation due to:
Financial assumption (118,465) - (118,465)
Experience adjustments (5,744) - (5,744)
Contributions - (152,901) (152,901)
At December 31 P1,346,784 (21,644,999) (P298,215)

The fair value of plan assets by each class as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2015 2014
Cash and cash equivalents
Savings deposit - BDO B594 P27
Debt instrument
Government securities 662,797 649,268
Equity instrument
Investment in UITF 983,127 989,149
Receivable
Interest 10,362 8,468
Liability
Trust fee payable (1,997) (1,913)
Fair value of plan assets P1,654,883 R1,644,999

All equity and debt instruments held have quoted prices in active markets. The plan assets have
diverse investments and do not have any concentration risk.

- 66



The Group’s net pension asset reflected in the consolidated financial statements represents the Parent
Company’s pension plan because the impact of BHSI and SMKL’s pension plan is reflected as part of
“Share on actuarial gain (loss) of an associate and a joint venture”. The Group’s pension fund is
administered by BDO and being managed as one.

The asset allocation of the plan is set and reviewed from time to time by the BOT taking into account
the membership profile and liquidity requirements of the plan. This also considers the expected
benefit cash flows to be matched with asset duration.

The present value of the pension obligation is determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial
valuation involves making various assumptions.

The principal assumptions used in determining the pension obligation for the defined benefit plans are
shown below:

2015 2014
Discount rate 5.17% 4.50%
Salary increase rate 5.00% 5.00%
Average remaining working lives of employees 21 years 19 years

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each
significant assumption on the defined benefit obligation as of the December 31, assuming all other
assumptions were held constant:

Increase (decrease)

Rates 2015 2014
Discount rates +0.5% (243,025) ®119,621)
-0.5% 77,775 132,308
Rates Increase (decrease)
2015 2014
Salary increase rate +1.0% 172,777 P267,538
-1.0% (77,720) (207,217)

The Group expects to contribute 0.1 million to the plan in 2016.

Shown below is the maturity analysis of the Group’s defined benefit obligation based on
undiscounted benefit payments:

2015 2014
Less than 10 years P P
More than 10 years to 15 years 985,654 984,957
More than 15 years to 20 years 7,910,127 7,917,906
More than 20 years 9,123,681 7,634,454

18,019,462 P16,537,317
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The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 21 years as of December 31,
2015.

18. Income Tax

Current Tax
The details of the current provision for income tax are as follows:

2015 2014 2013

Final tax £398,393 P434,403 P969,356
MCIT 74,047 103,837 176,330
P472,440 P538,240 P1,145,686

Deferred Tax

The components of net deferred tax as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, computed at 30%, are as
follows: /

December 31
2015 2014
Presented in profit or loss
Deferred tax assets:
Accrued expenses 21,971,400 £2,221,295
Unrealized foreign exchange loss 6,042 142,331
Pension asset ~ net 80,333 42,165
Deferred tax liabilities:
Accrued income (2,380,950) (2,082,735)
Unrealized foreign exchange gain (5,752) ~
(328,927) 323,056
Tax rate 30% 30%
(98,678) 96,917
Presented in OCI
Deferred tax liability:
Pension asset — net (657,114) (340,380)
Tax rate 30% 30%
(197,134) (102,114)
Total net deferred tax liability (P295,812) (B5,197)

The impact of deferred tax on net pension asset is broken down in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income is as follows:

2015 2014 2013

Recognized in profit or loss P11,450 £20,147 (®938)
Recognized in OCI (95,020) (11,026) 59,176
(£83,570) P9,121 P58,238
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As of December 31, 2015, details of NOLCO which can be claimed as deduction from future
taxable income and MCIT which can be claimed as deduction against future tax payable are as

follows:

Year incurred Year of Expiry NOLCO MCIT

2013 2016 P14,129,024 P171,857

2014 2017 19,833,864 107,276

2015 2018 30,950,717 74,047
264,913,605 £353,180

Deferred tax assets on NOLCO and MCIT as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, have
not been recognized since management believes that the benefits will not be realized prior to their

expiry dates.

Details of unrecognized deferred tax assets are as follows:

2015 2014
NOLCO P64,913,605 P£50,440,741
Tax rate 30% 30%
19,474,082 15,132,222
MCIT 353,180 429,908
£19,827.262 15,562,130
The movements in NOLCO are as follows:
2015 2014
At January 1 P50,440,741 £43,829,547
Additions 30,950,717 19,833,864
Expirations ' (16,477,853) (13,222,670)
At December 31 P64,913,605 P£50,440,741
The movements in MCIT are as follows:
2015 2014
At January 1 £429,908 R466,603
Additions 74,047 107,276
Expirations (150,775) (143,971)
At December 31 P353,180 £429,908




The reconciliation between the statutory income tax rate and the effective income tax rate is as

follows:
2015 2014 2013
Statutory income tax rate (30.0%) 30.0% 30.0%
Add (deduct) tax effects of:
Change in unrecognized deferred
tax assets 71.5 2563 24.6
Non-deductible expenses 31 - -
Interest income subjected to final tax (1.5) 4.4) 1.7
Nontaxable income 10) - -
Equity in net earnings of associates
and a joint venture (28.1) (291.8) (45.0)
Effective income tax rate 5.0% (9.9%) 7.9%

19. Provisions

As of December 31, 2014, provisions were recognized for estimated losses on claims by a third party
amounting to 2.1 million. Disclosure of additional details beyond the present disclosures may
prejudice the Group’s position. Thus, as allowed by PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets, only a general description was provided.

In 2015, this provision was reversed as it is no longer required. The gain arising from this reversal is
presented as “Gain on reversal of liability and provision” in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income. As of December 31, 2015, provision amounted to nil.

20. Earnings Per Share

2015 2014 2013
Net income (loss) (a) (P14,061,329) £2,298,288 P16,654,812
Weighted average number of
common shares issued and
outstanding (b) (Note 14) 293,828,900 293,828,900 293,828,900
Basic/Diluted Earnings (Loss) per
share (a/b) (B0.05) £0.01 P0.06

The Group has no potential shares that will have a dilutive effect on Earnings Per Share.

21. Commitments

The Parent Company has an operating lease contract that expired on August 30, 2015. This
agreement has been renewed for one year until August 2016. Total rent expense charged to
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operations amounted to 1.6 million, 1.5 million and £1.4 million in 2015, 2014 and 2013,
respectively (see Note 16).

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the required advance rental deposits amounted to
0.9 million. These are included under “Other current assets” in the consolidated statements of
financial position (see Note 8).

There are no assets of the Group pledged as collaterals to any loans of its stockholders and associates
nor are there any restrictions on revenue.

22.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group’s principal financial assets and financial liabilities comprise cash and cash equivalents,
AFS financial assets, amounts due to and from related parties and refundable deposits. The Group
has various other financial assets and financial liabilities such as trade receivables and payables,
which arise from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and
foreign currency risk. The Group’s BOD and management review and agree on the policies for
managing each of these risks as summarized below.

Credit Risk

Credit risk arises when the counterparty to a financial asset of the Group is unable to fulfill its
obligation at the time the obligation becomes due. Credit risk arises from the Group’s financial
assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, receivables, amounts due from related parties,
refundable deposits and AFS financial assets. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the carrying
values of the Group’s financial instruments represent maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting
date.

The gross maximum exposure to credit risk of the Group approximates its net maximum exposure.
There were no amounts that are set-off in accordance with the entities in PAS 32, Financial
Instruments: Presentation. There were no amounts subject to an enforceable master netting
arrangement or similar agreement as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.

The Group transacts mostly with related parties, thus, there is no requirement for collateral. There are
no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group.

The Group’s due from related parties are approximately ninety-five percent (95%) and ninety-seven
percent (97%) of total receivables as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.



The table below shows the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets as at December 31, 2015 and
2014:

December 31, 2015

Neither Past Due nor Impaired Past Due
but not
High Grade Low Grade Total Impaired Impaired Total
Financial assets
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents £206,916,313 P~ P206,916,313 P- B~  P206,916,313
Receivables 3,997,070 - 3,997,070 2,666,664 - 6,663,734
Due from related parties 108,724,018 — 108,724,018 — — 108,724,018
$319,637,401 B-  P319,637,401 £2,666,664 P P322,304,065
December 31, 2014
Neither Past Due nor Impaired Past Due
but not
High Grade Low Grade Total Impaired Impaired Total
Financial assets
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents P151,498,654 B~ P151,498,654 - P~ P151,498,654
Receivables 5,171,155 - 5,171,155 - - 5,171,155
Due from related parties 192,865,094 - 192,865,094 — - 192,865,094
£349,534,903 B- 349,534,903 B P~  P£349,534,903

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Group has no impaired financial assets.

The Company’s receivable under past due but not impaired is 60 to 90 days past due. This pertains to
a receivable arising from an agreement of the Group with a third party entered on October 24, 2013 to
sell its fully depreciated investment properties. It was agreed by the Group and the debtor that the
remaining unpaid receivable is to be collected in 2016 (see Note 7).

The credit quality of the financial assets was determined as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents - high grade is based on the nature of the counterparty and the Group’s
internal rating system.

Neither past due nor impaired receivables - high grade pertains to receivables with no default in
payments and those accounts wherein management has assessed that the recoverability is high. Low
grade pertains to receivables with default in payments or those accounts which have probability of
impairment based on historical trend.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the entity will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments
associated with financial instruments. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and the availability of funding.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through

the use of cash and short-term deposits. The Group also monitors its risk to shortage of funds through
monthly evaluation of the projected and actual cash flow information.
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The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s non-derivative financial assets and
liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments:

December 31,2015
More than
Less than 3 mouths to More than
On Demand 3 months 1 year one year Total
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents P£7,592,234 P£199,324,079 P P £206,916,313
Receivables 3,428,347 3,235,487 - - 6,663,834
Due from related parties 108,724,018 - - - 108,724,018
Refundable deposits - - — 107,110 107,110
P£119,744,599 P£202,559,566 P £107,110 P322,411,275
Financial liabilities:
Accounts payable and
other current liabilities* P553,981 P4,217,981 P£324,684 P P5,096,646
Due to related parties 124,000,000 - - - 124,000,000
P124,553,981 £4,217,981 £324,684 P P£129,096,646
* Accounts payable and other current liabilities exclude taxes payable.
December 31, 2014
More than
Less than 3 months to More than
On Demand 3 months 1 year one year Total
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents £22,428,201 £129,070,453 P P P151,498,654
Receivables 1,014,185 2,490,306 1,666,664 - 5,171,155
Due from related parties 192,865,094 - - - 192,865,094
Refundable deposits — — — 107,110 107,110
£216,307,480 131,560,759 21,666,604 P107,110 £349,642,013
Financial liabilities:
Accounts payable and
other current liabilities* P553,981 P3,585,275 P P 4,139,256
Due to related parties 124,000,000 — — — 124,000,000
124,553,981 23 585,275 P P 128,139,256

* Accounts payable and other current liabilities exclude taxes payable.

Foreign Currency Risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rate. The Group’s exposure to foreign currency arises from US-dollar denominated bank
accounts and SG-dollar denominated consultancy fees due to KLIL.

The Group’s foreign currency denominated financial asset pertains to cash in bank account amounting
to 0.1 million (US$1,233) and 0.2 million (US$4,653) as of December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. In translating the foreign currency denominated cash in bank account into Philippine
Peso amounts, the exchange rates used was P46.82 and P44.66 to US$1.0 as of December 31, 2015
and 2014, respectively.

The Group manages its foreign currency exposure risk by matching, as far as possible, receipts and
payments in each individual currency. Foreign currency is converted into relevant domestic currency
as and when the management deems necessary.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the Philippine
Peso exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s income before tax.
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There is no impact on the Group’s equity other than those already affecting the net income.

December 31,2015
Effect on
Changein  Income Before Tax
Currency Variable Increase (decrease)
USD +2.36% P1,361
-2.36% (1,361)
December 31, 2014
Effect on
Change in Income Before Tax
Currency Variable Increase (decrease)
USD +0.07% 12,546
-0.07% (12,546)

In 2015 and 2014, the Group used the average change in the quarterly closing rates for the year in
determining the reasonable possible change in foreign exchange rates.

Capital Management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit

rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholder value. The
Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions.

The Group monitors capital using percentage of debt to equity, which is total debt divided by total
equity net of treasury shares. The Group’s policy is to maintain the percentage of debt to equity ratio
below 100%. The Group includes, within total debt, accounts payable and other current liabilities and
amounts due to related parties.

The Group’s objective is to ensure that there are no known events that may trigger direct or
contingent financial obligation that is material to the Group, including default or acceleration of an
obligation. The percentages of debt to equity as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

2015 2014
Liabilities 131,296,024  R131,761,826
Equity 1,636,677,155  1,650,450,063
Percentage of debt to equity 8.02% 7.98%

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirement.

Fair Values
Due to the short-term nature of the Group’s financial instruments, their fair values approximate their
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carrying amounts as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, except for AFS financial assets.

The AFS financial assets pertaining to investment in preferred equity shares and unquoted club shares
are valued at cost less any impairment in value because these club shares do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be measured reliably.

Fair Value Hierarchy

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Group has no financial instrument measured at fair value.
During the reporting period ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, there were no transfers between
Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value
measurement.

23.

Segment Information

The Group has only one segment as it derives its revenues primarily from investments and
management consultancy services rendered to its associates.

Significant information on the reportable segment is as follows:

December 31

2015 2014 2013
Operating assets P1,767,973,179 P1,782,211,889 P1,755,282,708
Operating liabilities 131,000,212 131,756,629 106,370,970
Revenue and income 18,608,876 27,685,775 37,805,386
Other income (charges) 4,333,665 (141,465) 3,641,223
General and administrative expenses 36,335,835 25,454,425 23,358,840
Segment net income (loss) (14,061,329) 2,298,288 16,654,812

All revenues are from domestic entities incorporated in the Philippines.
There are no revenues derived from a single external customer above 10% of total revenue.

There is no need to present reconciliation since the Group’s operating assets, operating liabilities,
revenue, cost and expenses and segment profit pertains to a single operating segment.
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KEPPEL PHILIPPINES PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Amount in Philippine Pesos)

SCHEDULE B — Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related Parties and Principal

Stockholders ( Other than Affiliates)
December 31, 2015

Name and designation Balance at Balance at
of debtor beginning  Additions Amounts Amounts Current Non- end of year
of year collected written- current
off
Non-trade P2,666,664 P- P- P-  P2,666,664 P- P2,666,664
Officers and employees 2,490,306 2,801,148 (2,055,967) - 3,235,487 - 3,235,487
Interest on bank
deposits 14,185 105,841 (14,185) - 105,841 - 105,841
P5,171,155 2,906,989 (#2,070,152) P-  P6,007,992 P-  P6,007,992
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KEPPEL PHILIPPINES PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Amount in Philippine Pesos)

SCHEDULE C — Amounts Receivable from Related Parties which are Eliminated during the Consolidation of
Financial Statements.

December 31, 2015

Name and designation  Balance at Balance at
of debtor beginning Additions Amounts Amounts Current Non- end of yeal

of year collected  written-off current
Buena Homes, Inc. P3,327,706 P£147,861 - B P3,475,567 B- P3475,56
P3,327,706 P147,861 P- P- P3,475,567 - P3.475,56




KEPPEL PHILIPPINES PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Amount in Philippine Pesos)

SCHEDULE H - Capital Stocks

December 31, 2015
Number of Number of
shares issued shares
and outstanding reserved for
as shown under options,
Title of issue Number of related balance warrants, Number of Directors, Others
shares sheet caption conversion shares held by officers
authorized and other affiliates and
rights employees

Common Shares
of Stock 375,000,000 296,629,900 - - - -
Treasury Stock (2,801,000) - - - -
Outstanding
Common Stock 293,828,900 - 235,181,969 1,465,713 57,181,218
Preferred Stock 135,700,000 59,474,100 - 59,474,100 - -
Total 353,303,000 - 294,656,069 1,465,713 57,181,218
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KEPPEL PHILIPPINES PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF RETAINED EARNINGS
AVAILABLE FOR DIVIDEND DECLARATION

DECEMBER 31, 2015

Consolidated retained earnings, beginning
Adjustments:
Accumulated share in net earnings of subsidiary

P693,481,554

and associate (526,217,429)
Deferred tax asset - net, beginning 5,197
Unappropriated retained earnings, as adjusted, beginning 167,269,322

Net loss during the period closed to retained earnings
Non-actual losses (Unrealized income):
Equity in net income of associate/joint venture

(14,061,329)

(12,552,560)

Provision for deferred tax (195,595)
Net income realized 140,459,838
Treasury shares (2,667,645)

Unappropriated retained earnings, as adjusted, ending

P137,792,193
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KEPPEL PHILIPPINES PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015, 2014 AND 2013

2015 2014 2013
Liquidity Ratio Current assets over current 2.6:1 2:8 3:1
liabilities
Asset to equity ratio | Total asset over total equity 1.08:1 1.07:1 1.06:1
Debt to equity ratio | Total liabilities over total equity 0.08:1 0.07:1 0.06:1
Return on Assets Net income (loss) after tax over (0.79%) 0.13% 0.96%
total assets at beginning
Return on Equity Net income (loss) after tax over (0.86%) 0.14% 1.0%
total equity
Earnings (loss) per | Net income (loss) over number (£0.048) £0.008 £0.06
share of common stock outstanding




SCHEDULE I

KEPPEL PHILIPPINES PROPERTIES, INC. & SUBSIDIRIES

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE REQUIRED
UNDER SRC RULE 68, AS AMENDED (2014)

Page 1 of 5

I. List of Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs) effective as of December 31, 2015

Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements
Conceptual Framework Phase A: Objectives and qualitative characteristics
PFRSs Practice Statement Management Commentary N4
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards
PFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Philippine Financial Reporting Standards
(Revised)
Amendments to PFRS 1 and PAS 27: Cost of an Investment in a J
Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate
Amendments to PFRS 1: Additional Exemptions for First-time J
Adopters
Amendment to PFRS 1: Limited Exemption from Comparative PFRS V4
7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters
Amendments to PFRS 1: Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed N4
Date for First-time Adopters
Amendments to PFRS 1: Government Loans N4
Amendments to PFRS 1: Borrowing Costs J
PFRS 2 Share-based Payment J
Amendments to PFRS 2: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations N4
Amendments to PFRS 2: Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment J
Transactions
PFRS 3 Business Combinations v
(Revised)
PFRS 4 Insurance Contracts J
Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 4: Financial Guarantee Contracts v
PFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations v
PFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources v
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Financial Instruments: Disclosures

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification of Financial
Assets

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification of Financial
Assets - Effective Date and Transition

Amendments to PFRS 7: Improving Disclosures about Financial
Instruments

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures - Transfers of Financial Assets

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities

Amendments to PFRS 7: Mandatory Effective Date of PFRS 9 and
Transition Disclosures

PFRS 8

Operating Segments

PFRS 9

Financial Instruments

Not early adopted

Amendments to PFRS 9: Mandatory Effective Date of PFRS 9 and
Transition Disclosures

Not early adopted

Amendments to PFRS 9: Financial Instruments

Not early adopted

PFRS 10

Consolidated Financial Statements

Investment entities

Not early adopted

PFRS 11

Joint Arrangements

PFRS 12

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

PFRS 13

Fair Value Measurement

PFRS 16

Leases

Not early adopted

Philippine Accounting Standards

PAS 1
(Revised)

Presentation of Financial Statements

Amendment to PAS 1: Capital Disclosures

Amendments to PAS 32 and PAS 1: Puttable Financial Instruments
and Obligations Arising on Liquidation

Amendments to PAS 1: Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive
Income

Amendments to PAS 1: Clarification of the Requirements for
Comparative Information

PAS2

Inventories

PAS7

Statement of Cash Flows




PAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors J
PAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period V4
PAS 11 Construction Contracts
PAS 12 Income Taxes v
Amendment to PAS 12 - Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets
PAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment J
Amendments to PAS 16: Classification of Servicing Equipment N4
PAS 17 Leases N4
PAS 18 Revenue J
PAS 19 Employee Benefits (Revised) N4
Amendments to PAS 19: Actuarial Gains and Losses, Group Plans and N4
Disclosures
PAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government
Assistance
PAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates N4
Amendment: Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
PAS 23 Borrowing Costs N4
(Revised)
PAS 24 Related Party Disclosures V4
(Revised)
PAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirenent Benefit Plans
PAS 27 Separate Financial Statements v
(Amended)
PAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures N4
(Amended)
PAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
PAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation J
Amendments to PAS 32 and PAS 1: Puttable Financial Instruments
and Obligations Arising on Liquidation
Amendment to PAS 32: Classification of Rights Issues
Amendments to PAS 32: Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities
Amendments to PAS 32: Tax Effect of Distribution to Holders of N4

Equity Instruments
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Earnings per Share

Interim Financial Reporting

Amendments to PAS 34: Interim Financial Reporting and Segment
Information for Total Assets and Liabilities

PAS 36

Impairment of Assets

Amendments to PAS 36: Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-
Financial Assets

PAS 37

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

PAS 38

Intangible Assets

PAS 39

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

Amendments to PAS 39: Transition and Initial Recognition of
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Amendments to PAS 39: Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of Forecast
Intragroup Transactions

Amendments to PAS 39: The Fair Value Option

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 4: Financial Guarantee Contracts

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification of Financial
Assets

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification of Financial
Assets - Effective Date and Transition

Amendments to Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-9 and PAS 39:
Embedded Derivatives

Amendment to PAS 39: Eligible Hedged Items

Amendments to PAS 39: Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of
Hedge Accounting

PAS 40

Investment Property

PAS 41

Agriculture

Philippine Interpretations

IFRIC 1 Changes in Existing Decammissioning, Restoration and Similar
Liabilities

IFRIC 2 Members' Share in Co-operative Entities and Similar Instruments

IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease

IFRIC 5 Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and

Environmental Rehabilitation Funds
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IFRIC 6 Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market - Waste v
Electrical and Electronic Equipment

IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under PAS 29 Financial Reporting J
in Hyperinflationary Economies

IFRIC 8 Scope of PFRS 2

IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives J
Amendments to Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-9 and PAS 39: N4
Embedded Derivatives

IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

IFRIC 11 PFRS 2- Group and Treasury Share Transactions J

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements J

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes J

IFRIC 14 The Limit on a Defined BenefitAsset, Minimum Funding N4
Requirements and their Interaction
Amendments to Philippine Interpretations IFRIC- 14, Prepayments of J
a Minimum Funding Requirement

IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction ofReal Estates Not early adopted

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation J

IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners J

IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers N4

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments J

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine J

IFRIC 21 Levies

SIC-7 Introduction of the Euro J

SIC-10 Government Assistance - No Specific Relation to Operating Activities J

SIC-12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities v
Amendment to SIC - 12: Scope of SIC 12 N4

SIC-15 Operating Leases - Incentives J

SIC-25 Income Taxes - Changes in the Tax Status of an Entity or its N4
Shareholders

SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of J
a Lease

SIC-29 Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosures. V4




Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services

SIC-32

Intangible Assets - Web Site Costs

38




KEPPEL PHILIPPINES PROPERTIES, INC.
INDEX TO EXHIBITS
SEC FORM 17-A

No. Page No.
€8 Publication of Notice re: Filing
NA
2) Underwriting Agreement
NA
3) Plan of Acquisition, Reorganization, Arrangement, Liquidation or NA
Succession
4) Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws NA
%) Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders, Including NA
Indentures
(6) Opinion Re: Legality NA
(N Opinion Re: Agreement NA
(8) Voting Trust Agreement NA
(9) Material Contracts NA
(10) Annual Report to Security Holders, Form 11- Q or Quarterly Report to
- NA
Security Holders
(an Material Foreign Patents NA
(12) Letter Re: Unaudited Interim Financial Information NA
(13) Letter Re: Change in Certifying Accountant NA
(14) Letter Re: Director Resignation NA
(15) Letter Re: Change in Accounting Principles NA
(16) Report Furnished to Security Holders NA
(17 Other Documents Or Statements to Security Holders NA
(18) Subsidiaries of the Registrant 90
19) Published Report Regarding Matters Submitted to Vote of Security NA
Holders
20) Consents of Experts and Independent Counsel NA
21) Power of Attorney NA
22) Statements of Eligibility of Trustee NA
(23) Exhibits to be Filed with Bonds Issues NA
24) Exhibits to be Filed with Stocks Options Issues NA
(25) Exhibits to be Filed by Investment Companies NA
(26) Curriculum Vitae and Photographs of Officers and Members of the Board NA
of Directors
27 Copy of Board of Investment Certificate in the case of Board of NA
Investment Registered Companies
(28) Authorization to Commission to Access Registrant’s Bank Accounts NA
(29) Additional Exhibits NA
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EXHIBIT 18 SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Name Country of Business Percentage of
Incorporation Ownership
CSRI Investment Corporation Philippines Investment in securities and 100%
condominium units
Buena Homes Inc. Philippines Property holding and 100%
development
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KEPPEL PHILIPPINES PROPERTIES, INC.

KEPPEL PHILIPPINES
PROPERTIES, INC.
(KPPI)

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015

BUENA HOMES INC.
(BHI)

CSRI INVESTMENT
CORP. (CSRI)

Y

v

BUENA HOMES
(SANDOVAL) INC.

OPON REALTY & DEVT
CORP.
(ORDC)

Y

OPON VENTURES, INC.
oVl [—

l

(BHSI)

Subsidiaries

Buena Homes, Inc. (BH!)

CSRI Investment Corporation (CSRI)

Associates Percentage of Ownership
Buena Homes (Sandoval), Inc. (BHSI) 40%
Opon Realty and Development Corp. (ORDC) 40%
Opon-KE Properties, Inc. (OKEP) 40%
SM-Keppel Land, inc. (SMKL) 40%
Opon Ventures, Inc.(OVI) 40%

Percentage of Ownership

OPON-KE PROPERTIES,

INC. <«
(OKEP)

A

SM-KEPPEL LAND, INC.
(SMKL) -

100%
100%

Nature of Business
Investment holding
Investment holding

Nature of Business

Property holding and development
Property holding and development
Property holding and development
Property holding and development
Property holding and development
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Republic of the Philippines )
City of Makati }S.S.

SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATE

I, MA. MELVA E. VALDEZ, with office address at 6 Floor, SOL Building, 112
Amorsolo St., Legaspi Village, Makati City, being the Corporate Secretary/Compliance
Officer of Keppel Philippines Properties, Inc. (“Company”), a corporation duly
organized and existing under Philippine laws, do hereby certify that the following are
the changes/updates in the Company’s Annual Corporate Governance Report submitted
on 01 July 2013 which reflected in the Consolidated Changes of the Annual Corporate
Governance Report Y2015 (“ACGR Updates”):

Item A(1)(a) -~ Composition of the Board of Directors
(Excerpt from the AGM Minutes on 11 June 2015)

“VIL ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The following nominees were elected as Directors for the year 2015-2016 or until
their successors shall have been duly elected and shall have qualified:

Tan Siew Ngok
Linson Lim Soon Kooi
Ramon J. Abejuela
Celso P. Vivas

Lee Foo Tuck

Stefan Tong Wai Mun
Lim Kei Hin”

NG N

Item A(1)(d) - Updated information re new director

Item A(1)(e) - Updated list of directors

[tem A(5) - Included resignation of a director

Item A(6)}{b) - Orientation and Education Program

For the past three (3) years, the following seminars were attended:

Corporate Governance Seminar:



Lee Foo Tuck

Stefan Tong Wai Mun

Ramon J. Abejuela

Celso P. Vivas

Ma. Melva E. Valdez

Almira A. Anonuevo

Item C(2) - Attendance of Directors

The item has been updated to reflect the attendance of the dlrectors for the board
mcetmgs conducted in year 2015,

Item D(2) ~ Remuneration Policy and Structure for Executive and Non-
Execufive Directors

The approval of the directors’ fixed annual fee for 2014 on 11 Junc 2015 is
indicated.

The amount of total remuneration has been updated.

Item D(4) - Updated list of directors

Item D(5) - Updated information re remuneration of management.
Item E(2)(b) - Audit Committee

The date of appointment and the length of service has been updated considering
the election on 11 June 2015. Likewise, the age of the members has been updated.

Also, the oversight function was added.
Item E(2)(c} - Screening Committee

The date of appointment and the length of service has been updated considering
the election on 11 June 2015

© Item E(2)(d) - Compensation Committee

The date of appointment and the length of service has been updated considering
the election on 11 June 2015.

(Excerpt from the Minutes of the Orgmzizational Meeting on 11 June 2015):



1L, Bléction of Officets
XXX
The Board .aflsge;mfg;zmié&d.tli@‘ecﬁfﬁi‘mmt-mmmitﬁte@s,;a_s:fblﬁiaws:s
Audit Committee

Ramon J. Ab¢juela:

Celso P.Vivas * :Imdepehdmt Du'e{fmr
Stefan Tong Wai Mun :

Screening Committee

Linson Lim Soon Kool Chairman

Celso P, Vivas Independent Director
Stefan Tong Wai Mun

&

Compensation Committee
Linson Lim Soori Koot
Ramon J, Abejuela

Stefan Tong Wai Mun

Chairinian
Independent Director

3

3

HemF -Updated information re risk management system

Item G ~ Updated. information ve internal audit process and role of internal
auditor; updated role of Chairman and President:

Item I(1) = Ownership Structure
The shareholdings have been updated

[tem I{7) - Updated information re internal audit process; role of internal auditor
and updated role of Chiairman and President:

[tem I(B) Ext:arnal Audlmr & r el

Item J(I}() ~ Stockholders’ Attendance
The date of meeting and the percentage on the-attendance hasbeen updated as of
the AGM on 11 June 2015.




08 January 2016, Makati City, Philippiries.
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
SECFORM = ACGR

ANNUAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

‘GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS.

{A} Use of Form ACGR -
This SEC Forra shall be used to meet the requireinents of the Revised Code of Corporate.Governance,

{8) Preparation of Report.
These general instructions:are not to ba filed with the feport. Thetinstructions to the various captions of the form
shall not be omitted from the report as filed. The report:shall contain t & pimbers and captions of all jtems, if
any item is inapplicable or the answer thereto Is in the segative, an appropriate statement to that effect shall -be
made. Provide:an explanation on'why the:item.does not dpply to'the comgany or-onhow the company's practice
differs from:the Code,

{C) ‘Signature and Filing of the Repart:
A, Three (3} complete sets of thesreport shall be Fledwith the Main Office of the Commission.
8. Atleast one complete copy of the regort filed with the Commission shall be manually signed.
€. All reports shall comply with the full disclosure requirements of the: Secudtiss Regutation:Code:
. This report is requiced to be filed annually togéther with thie.company'sannual report.

(D) Filing an Amendment

Any material change in the facts set forthyin the report ocourring witl_ﬁrt theyear shall be regorted through SEC
Form 17:C. The cover-page for the SEC Form 17-C shallindicate "Amendment to the ACGR”,



SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
SEC FORM ~ ACGR

CONSOLIDATED CHANGES IN THE
ANNUAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
FOR YEAR 2015

. Report is Filed for the Year 2015
Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter Keppel Philippines Properties, Inc.
12 ADB Avenue, Ortigas Center, Mandaluyong City (temporarily moved to Units 2203-2204 Raffles

Corporate Center, F Ortigas Ir Road, Ortigas Center, Pasig City)
Address of Principal Office ' Postal Code

. SEC Identification Number PW-305 5. (SEC Use Only)
Industry Classification Code

. BIR Taxidentification Number 000-067-618

. (632) 584-61-70
Issuer’s Telephone number, including area code

N/A
former name or former address, if changed from the last report
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A. BOARD MATTERS

1} Board of Diréctors

{a)- Composition of the Board

Complate the table with information on the Board 6f Dicectors:

Linson tin - |1 ’ L 4 | 13Nov [114me2015 | Annual |9
SoonKooi - fawes | | Meeting |
Tan Siew Ngok [ NED KLL. | Mar2,  L13lune2015 | Annual |10
A . s b e 208 L | Meeting | months
F— o 73 R i Ty ewm
Abejuela o S . 11998 | Mesting |
Celsopovivas |10~ [NjA | | Nov  |11june201s | Andual Tn
: 2004 - ' “Meeting-
UmKeiBin.  [NED KL | | 9Ma |3liune2015 | Annval |4
; . 00 4 Meeting ]|
leefooTuck |BD 0 pkL {0 13May | 1lJune 2015 | Annval |7
, . S R 2008 | | Meeting |
Stefan Tong NED. - | KERWE lun 2007 | 11 June 2015 |.Annual |8
Wai Mun. ALTH/K “Meeting

1< P

(b} Provide a brief summary.of the corporate governance policy that the board of directors has adopted. Please
emphasize the policy/ies relative to the: treatment of -all-sharsholders, respact for the rights of minority
shareholders and of other stakeholders, disclosure-duties, and board resgonsibilities,

(g} ‘Directorship in-OtherCompanles
{iy Diractorship in the Company's Group®

Identify, as and if applicable, the members.of the company's Board of Directors:who hold the sifice. of
director in.other companies within.its Group:

' Reckoited from the election immediately follawing fanuary 2, 2012,
* The Group is compiosed of the parent, subsidiaries, associates ani joint ventures of the company.



Lmson Lim Soon KQO(

NED/Chairman
ENED
NED

| NED
e | NED

' Lim Kei Hin: Keppel Phﬂippmes Pmp&rtsea,‘ NED-
' | Ine, SM Keppel Land, lng.,

. -NED.
l.e‘eFo_oTugk Kappet f’h: pihes Properties, | D

fag,, ';5
| Buena Homes. {sandoval), tne,, | ED
) ' B NED/Chaisman

: ,Nmﬂ;hmrman
| NED/Chairman
'} NED
JNED

e ‘ Tan Siew Ngak

' v:NEQ

{ii}. Directorship-in Other Listed Companies

Identify, as and if-applicable; the members of the: conipany’s Board of mrectms Who ars also directors of
publicly-listed ¢companies outsida of its Group

“Celso ] ‘. ; 1n ependent Director

Stefan Tong Wai Mun Executive Director

{iii} Relatioaship withinthe Company andits Group

Provide details, as and if applicable; of any relation amang the members of the-Board of Directors, which:
{inks thenvto significant sharebpl ersinthe: wmpanv andfar in its: group:

{iv} Hasthe:company seta limit on-the number oF bioard seats in other companies {publicly listed, ordinary
and companies with secondary license} that an Individual director 6e CED may hold simultaneousty? In

6



‘particular, is the limit of five board:seats in other publicly listed companies’ imposed and. abserved?"if yes,
briefly describe other guidelines:

j ha:"ollawmg gui

the ¢ :
business of the Corporation;
d. Number of directorshipfactive

chrpgrat:mﬂ.

QK&CL!ZNQK

directors to serve with diligence.
shall not be compromised,

pmvxdes, To ass:st tha cam:mt;tee"

in determmmg ha apt;mum”‘

‘ ature (‘}f the busiﬁeﬁs’"«sf‘: g

c. Experience and: knowledge of |
lirector on the flled of |

memberships and officerships |
ity omer corporations. or |

s Wxﬂmgness and defermination.
of the director to serve. the |

Th& uptrmum m:mber shalt ba;.

sand:uthe utive rﬁrectors shaﬁf
i‘submit’ tbem&eives to low-
' :mdscatwe limit on membership-in-
“other corporate Boards. The same:
dow  limit  shall  apply  to.
“independent, non-executive
directors who serve as full-time’

1 other CO?Q@F&&(}M»E
In any. case,. the capacity. of'}

.dnréctorsmp :msl=3mposéd ‘

Ncﬁssxetbﬁvemréctér" '

CEQ

{e} Shareholdinginthe.Company

Complete the following table on the members of the company’s Board of Ditectors who directly and indicectly

own sharesinthe company:

Lim Kei Hin

_‘{?n:Siew Ngok.

B U(}%




Remonl.Abejwela [~ "3 T T pomg]

Celso P. Vivas R S, 0.00%
. LinsonLim SoonKooi.. |- R ‘ NA T 000% |
_ Stefan Tong Wai Mun__ _ae000 o MA 1 000% |
__Lee oo Tuck 1 14&5 703- 1 1 oo0% |
' TOTAL ' MR '

2} - Chairman and CEO

{a) Do different.persons assunie tfie role:of: Chairmai.of the Board of Diréctors and CEO? 1f no, describe the
checks and balances laid down to ensure that the Baard ets the hienéfit of independent: views.

Yes No

vlﬁéntifs{;cﬁe-ﬁﬁhair;ﬂﬁd;ﬁ_&@:-;

_ Linson Lim SoonKooi
Lee Fao Tick:

(b} Roles, Accountabilities and Deliverables

Defing-and clarify the roles, accountabilities and deliverables of the Chairman and CEO

B i
""" o | administers/directs day~to~dav
opératibngfbusiness affairs of the
-Role ‘Prasides iy Boarg Meetings 1 corporation;represents company in

| all transactions with the
government/other entities,

| - Ensure effective supervision and

managemﬁnt of the mmgany £

accurd ni:e with t,he wm;sany 3
1. EnsurethatBoard n 15 dre. | standards;
held iraccordance with the By- |~ Ensurethat the administrative and
lows ' 2rational policies.of the
2. Ensure qualitativeand timely | tation are cartied out..
communlcattons}mformatmn “+ Ensure. propee persoong|

between Board and managament in.accordange with
Management company poli mesfstanéards,
Actountabilities 3. Ensyre thatthe company’s’ ~ Bnsure proper. d;sbwsemenl of

gov&mance mlesfpo xcaes are compaay tun(fs and that the
gl ’ ' -company operates within approved
4. Ensure thatthe 1y “budget

managad by comp@mnt ~ Ensure complisnce with all-

di recmrs/affimrs regulatory requirements
5. Ensure election of indgpendent | - Ensure that timely
directors ‘teports{recommendations on the

plans/progress of the corparation.
- acerendered fsubmitted to the

‘ Eaarti ~
J = Ensure campliance with all
: app licable elaws, rifes & regulauonﬁ A

1. Timelyapprovael of rmu‘:‘r&é IS “Corpoiate plans &
1 Deliverables PSE/SEC reportithiat are 1 programi/piciects/Business
: approved by-the Board strategy sublect to Board approval




4
the CEO, Management emd the

Diféctors.

#. Upﬂate mrpcrategwamam:e

.gtr;am"gas:gamwés.aﬁa pan:fes '

' agem:jes

' :; ~Annual(k}rw:rate Budget sub}ect w-*

_ ’-appm;)rsate govemment/regu!atory

3} Explain howthe board of directors plan for the succession of the: CEO/Manag ng: Director/President and the top

key management posxtmns?

4] Other Executive; Nbxif«iixectxﬁye.:ami_'lrisiéimnd'en't%ﬁi%ectom:

Oges. the company: have:s:policy-of ensuring divefsity: cf ‘experience amd backeround of direttors in the Board?

Please explain:

Does:it ensure that at feast one pan-execitive. x:!irector has an experienca’in the sectof or industry the company

belongs to¥ Please explain.

Define and clarify the roles, accountabilities and deliverables:

fithe Executive, Non-Executive and Independent

Directors:
s ,Wj/ﬁ' y ;’{S A@'f\ ] ."‘ % 2 ”_7’ X “ ‘5 5%
o N z*'s\qxc E AL 2% d;& 67 «i%
| Independent officer
¥ Rasponsible forthe. Risponsible for the. ii;?gg:’gii‘gﬁzwmg
1 governance.of the fgevem. nw"af the
e o v within: Lhebaundsai;ts
Role 4 Corporation and for _
‘ q o 1 e ers{autﬁartty and:
| setting the poligias of- | that corporation.
| the Corporation: | complies with the
. = viamfm_igs&regulauem
Cnsure fepular review: uf tha ;tml:cieﬁ and bﬁSln ass | En;gr?;qdegendenz.
the policies of the : -§ participation.in the
- §trategios of the
corporation corporation board and ensure that
Accountabilities ; A 5llhemterestof the
[:‘;ns;_:fe,complxa‘nca_ :»{xth Ensure complisnce with | corporation and all
applicable faws, rules iy o stakeholders are
and regulations: ‘applicable laws, rues -~ | otectad,
and reg |Land regutations. | protected,
| Profitable business “Updated policies/rules |
§ .oparations | afthecorpoeation, - ., o
befiverabias oparations : of @ | Conplets attendance’in
| Efficient: man’aa{ament of | Effective business board meetings.
‘the'corporation | strategies

Provide the company’s definition of “indepentence™ and describe the company’s compliance to: the definition,

Does the: company have & termilimiv-of five cousecutive.vears for indepandent directors? I after twi years, the
-company wishes to bring back an-independent: director who had served for-five yadrs, does it imit the tarm for no

mora than four additional _y&ars? Plaase explain,




{a} Resignation/Death/Removal

Indicate any chaniges in the.composition of the Boared of Directors: thathappened during the period:.

S Changes in'the Board of Directors {Executive; Non-Executive:and Independent Directors)

~ Pirggtor

{1} Bxecutive Directors

‘ vfollows'

3 ) Elemonf; tmiy thase-
: nomtnees whu 81 pre«»
screened are eligible f;zr

| efection

] thegritariainthe.
| nominatien/elaction of
| regular
. rionexecutive) and
“independent directors
“tonform torthe following
standards:

{whather exacutive or

| ‘General Qualifications:
- Holderof at leastone {1} |

“shiareof stockof the
Comporation;

. Heshall be at least a

college graduate oF
holder of equivalent
Btademic dagren or have
suffitient experiencdin.
fmanaging the business
Lo substitutefor such, -
Tormal education:

S Hashall et least

fwentyone {21} years
Hid; '

+. Heshall hdve been
proven fo possess.
integrity and probity;
Hé shall have sufficient
knowledge or dverview
‘of the businegs

activities/transantivngof |

theCarporation;

"~ He shall e assiduous!

anid

= Such other quslificationg

15 the Comnitez may

4éascnab!y';:mvide»fm;m v

-rzime 40 timg,

"



Akio, anindependent
Ditector shall have the

- gualifications it niong of

e disqualifications

. hiereunder;

He shall: hava at least
one (1) share ol stockof
: the corporation;

4 B} Heshall be'at leasta
college graduate or he-
shall been engaged oc
exposed to the business, |
-ofthe corporation forat |
- least five (5] years;

¢} Hashall possess
integrity/probity; and

d) He shiall be assiduous,

| Disyualifications:

_ ch p&rsan enumeralezf

'd ependerst dxrector. He
likewise be: ﬂlSQt}aitﬁﬁd

- during his tenure underthe
- tollowing instances or

- Lauses;

‘#} Hebetomes anofficer
oremployes of the
‘coeporation where the'
hets such member of
board of diractors, o
becoimes ghy.of the:
PErSOns ehumerated

underﬁecgmn His)of

the Code o Cor orate’
4 vagmanze; 1
1 b)) His benefial sscurity
ownership-exceeds two
percent [2%) of the
cutstanding capital
stockof the company
whgre he iy'such
director;
& Fails, withoutany
Justifishle: LaNse, o
attend at Jeast S0%.of
the total pumber of
.-Ezbar'd méetmgs ﬁuri‘ng

: wct} abbéﬂﬁﬁs argdue
o graveilldess oo death




li),: chigther

ﬂ:sgua__ icationg which:
the covered company's
manual on Corporate

- Governanice provide.

- {Asapproved for

2006}

The: Screaning chmm;tzaa

: shallalso evaluate whether
- the nominess fall under

- disgualification per KPRY's

affanvim'me::e‘at'afa;jnﬂy.

-amendment on.08 June

By-Laws & Amended Manual |

{if) Non-Executive Directors

- preCorporate Governance,

{#i} Independeni Directors

(i} Executive Directors

“Special Qualifications for
| Independent Directors:

A vegular divectorwho
resigns.or whose term
endsonthe dayof the
election shall anly
“qualify-for-fiomination
and slection asan
iadependent Director
after fva () year
"gobling-off perpd”
~  Parsons sppointed as
Chaltroan “Emeritus”,
Ex-Officio
OirectorsfOfficersor
members of any
Executive Advisory
Board, or pthsrwise
agpointed in ¢ capacity:
tor dssist thi Bodrd inthe
performanceof Tty
-duties and
responsibilities shall be.
-subjectto a one {1) year
“cooling-off period”
prior to his qualification
asan Indepeddent
DiFector,

.,Same Process gy in tha i tiai 1

(i) Non-Executive Directors

v;alecner;iappomtmenr

v(iﬁ}‘lndependém Di,r&ctéc

{i} Executive Directory

:-Corgoratmn C@da, Cud& of

| Grounds are as: provided in
1 the: f:;; rporation Cade, Code

12



| Corporate Governance By- |
Haws and Manual o Carparate

Govemance

(u),NawExecutwe L‘hractors

(i) Executive Directors

A Tempamr;iy 'dfsquahf t&ﬂ
: 1,

-per manem_

-, -Disissal by kermination

J*  ifthe bensfical equity -

| * Being under preventive

gmund forthe: temparaty
| disqualification of a director;

+ - Refusalto combly with
the diselosure
reguirements fo the
“Seturities Regulation:
Gode and its

implémentating Rules:
‘and Regulations, This:
disqualificationshallbe |
in effect as long.as his .
‘refisal parsists;

fromi directarship in
anothérlisted:
curporation for cause
This disqualification
‘shall be in-effect yntil
‘he has clearad himself
of any involvément in:
. the alleged irfeguladity;” |

ownership of an
independént directorin
the Corporation of its.
subssidiaries and
affiliates exceedstwo:
prevent (2%) of its.
subscribed capital'stock, |
Thedisqualification
shall'be lifted if e timit |
isTater complied with.

susperision by the
Corporation;
*  Hihe independent
-directors becomes an
officer.or employee of
“the: same corporation,
heshalibe
automatically.
disqualified frombeing |
-anindspendent
~diractor; and
. Ccmwctxon that hag not
yet bemme, final:
“referred touin the
grounds for the
disqualificationof

13



" ditectors,

{ii} Non-Executive Directors |

“without calise, Provided that |
‘refoval without calise mav
rotbe ised to'deéprive:
minority stockholders of thele
o nght to be repreaentetj it lha

{l) Executive Directors

{1} Executive Directors: electr@n/appomtmmt ef
idirgctors

(u} Naw&xecum O:reetors_ i

* Grounds: violation of-
H L , “Company’s fules/policies
{ capil al'stock aiia :ma‘atﬁiﬂg_.du'iif .
called for'the purpose.

| Lmscm Lim SoonKooi
TanSiewNgok
Ramon. Abejuela
Colso . Vivas o
| Stefan TongWaiMun
Lee Foo Tuck

Lim KeiHin

6] ~Ocientation and Education Program

{a) D:sc fose details of the sompany's: mentat:on ;pmgramfw- new directors ifany,
(b} Stateanyin-house training and extemnal courses-attended by Directors:and SenjorManagament’ for the past
theae'(3) years;

* Senior. Management refees 10 the CEO and other. persons having authority and tesponsibility for planiing, dirstting.-
and controlling the activitias of the company,

14



Corporate Governance Seminar;

Linson Lim Soon Koo}
Lee Foo Tuck:

*Stefan Tong Wai Mun
Ramon I Abgjuels
Celso P Vivas
Lim.KeiHio
Tan.Sigw Ngok

‘Ma.-Melva E. Valdez

-Almira-A. Anonuevo.

(el
N/A

Continuing education programs for cfnractors*
vear.

programs.and seminars and roundtables attended during the

'‘B. CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT & ETHICS.

managemem and- emplayees*

|t} conflict of interest | _
» | securities of the:Group, |

empioyees of tht»z
Group mustavoid any
conflict i:etweeﬂ tﬁéil’

ransaction in-

[ "“f‘f"'*‘ff'!’?‘?" orany -afl ﬁhated crgammmm in any non-affiliated

non-affitiated organization; in dealing with -
1 organization, in-dealing dealing with suppliers, supphiers, customers and:

& ‘ & -oustomersand othier third | PDARIS, an
with suppliers, s ‘other third parties.
" parties.. .
custormiérs and ofher g
third: parties,

| All officers and: employees
| of the Gmup must avold any |

- | interestsand the mterests 2
Lof the Group: This includes

g the. Gmu any affiliate, or

1} ODiscuss briefly the company’s. palicies' on the: foﬁowmg busmess conduct or ethics affecting directors, senior-

aflict: bativeen theirown

transaction i securities.of

{b} Conductof:
Business and Fair

; t:ooondugtbusme&s
1 with mtagmm faxriyg
: :mparteaﬂy, inan

sthical and proper

jhtegrily'f riY'.. o
| impartially;

The mmpam; s ;mtzcy isto

inan‘ethical
and:proper manner, ang

Jieonduct buginess with

°| integrity, faitly, impartialy,
in aniethical and:proper
“maniner, and in compliance:

The company’s policy is to

{t} Receiptofgifts f.‘rom-
third parties

-oF gifts; hospitality.ar

efpensg must be

avoided whenever they-

Daalings wanner, and in { in compliance with ai | with alt applicable laws-and:
comgliance with-gh applicable lawsand  regolations
¥ applicable laws and: ragula!;;.ons
regulations: g . : o
| The offer-and ecezbt The nffer and receiptof | The offerandreceiptof

gifts, hospitality or:

1 expEnsemust e avoided.

whenever they could

1 zifts; hospitality Qr'éxgeﬁ&a_ v

| theycould affact o¢ be

must be avoided whenever

15



";sercarvec(:-m af‘f&ct the
1 outcanie ol husinegss

1 transactionsior

{ dealitigs, draredot

reasonablesnd bana

1 fied,

| reasenable aid biona Fied.

-outcome of business
‘transactions or dealings, or

bona fied.

argnot reasonabli and,

Thed:rec,t 5, I’ﬂ r, .
Ors, QICETS,. . [' the directors, officets,

- jrhe;(}'iéectqr;,: officers, and

: L and pmployegsofthe % :
(8} Complisnce with ::-company must at aii A mmpa‘bi: gu*s}fjat-ﬁﬂ&itgei - emph oygesof the company.
Laws & Regulations. | e ensure { ensure campliancewith | st atafltimes ensure
' ' _compham:e soliesble s rulsd o e-wmpl:ancew;th appiuzable
& o5 applicable lgws, rules and laws; rules and regulations:
and regu!ano reguiatians )
- Directors must: at all
times maintainthe:

{e} Respectfor Trade: | confidential nature of | indicated in the
Secrets/Use.of Non- | Information: pertaining ”Sa_feguarding infarma&cm | Safeguarding Information
public Information ' |-to the corporation’s: Codeof Practice Cpde of Practice

| company standards on | :

() UseofCompany  |'thesppropriationof  Findicated inthe Indicated iy the
Funds, Assets and fundsand theuse'of | Safeguacdinginformation” | Saféguarding Information
Infarmation 1 the assetsior 4 Codle of Practice {.Codeof Practice

operational
1 reguirements,
Personnel policiesand |
actionsare. : g ) . o |

{g) Employinent& | prepaced/undertaken Theicompany complies with |

 Labor taws & bythediractorsin. cable laborlsws. | applicable labor faws.and
N AR and policles withregard”  [policies with regardito.
Policies consonance with : ’tdempl'bvmemt employinent

applicable labor P EMPIeYmEnt e

laws/regulations . b L
‘Subjectto the: Ap propnate di‘scu}f nary v.é;;pm;ﬁ,ria ta disgiplinary
provisions of the ion, ine ,,'.aq!;ign,;,in_d_uding,_syspansian :
<Corporation Code, or termination of

' { Amended MCGiand: By-i : ;iamp'!‘ayn‘xgn;,zwmbe_t:aken

b} Disciplinary.action | 'laws an |in the eventthatan _

| employee s found to have
- Vviolated the rules of conduct
set outin the Codeof
Ry R i ,f:onduct
‘ () Whiste Blower v .&ﬁg}gggjz lad;cated inthe Whistle Indicated in tiuswmme
| Peotection Policy blawer Protection Palicy | blower Protection {’x;hcy
The Board:shall take “The Manager far Admxm g Tbe_Manager for Admm
-upfdecide anyconﬂmt and finance underthe | and Finance undérthe
» e o |-among itsamembers: ”?reandszntssupemmn 14 President’s supervision,
{f) - Conflict Resolution ¢ | shall handie the | shall bandle the settlement
settlement foany conflict | fo any conflict between the:
‘between theemployees. | employees,

2} Has the code of ethics or conduct been disseminatald to-all directors, seniormanggement and smployeas?

The Corapany follows a-set of guidelines with respect to-ethical standards-2nd conduct which are disseminated to
the directors, managément & employees: The President and. the Manager for Administrative Unithandles the:

16:



dissemination/orientation of the Company's guldelines to the officers.and amployees.

3 Oiscuss how the. company frgplemegtgaan_cj;_rnmiEbr@,cqmgi_i_aqggwitﬁ the code of ethics or conduct. _
The President and the Manager for Administrative & Finance implement and monitor compliance with the:

company's ethical standards/guidelines.

4) Related Party Transactions

Describe the company’s policies; and progedures for the review; approvali or ratification, onitoring and
fecording of related party transactions between aiid smong the company and its pacent; joint ventures,
subsidiaries, associates, affiljates, substantial stockliolders, officers and diréctors; including: their spoisses,
children and dependent siblings and. paredits and of interlgeking director: relationships. of miembers of the
Board,

1 (1) parent Company
{2) Joint Veértures
{3)Subsidigries L R
{4) Entities Under Common Control. | Significant transactions to beatarm length. Such
transactionsare cleared b it Committes and
1 agprov e Board of: : '

_{5) Substantial Stockholders
:{6) Officers including
spouse/children/siblings/parents |
{7} Directors including
spouse/children/siblingsfparents. § . L
(B interlocking director relationship | /'Av A '
of Board of Directors '

{b} ‘Conflict of Interest
[ij Directors/Officers and 5% or mere Shareholders

Identify any-actual or probable conflict of interest to which direttars/officers/5% or mote shiarehalders
miay be fovolved.

NamgofDirectorfs
“Name of Officer/y ‘ B
_ Namé of Significant Shareholders .

(i} Mechanisim

Describe the. methanism laid down.to detect, determine and: resolve any possiblé conflict of interest
between the company and/or its group dnd their directors, officérs and sighificant sharebolders,

-the directors/officers/significant stockhiolers iselose |
immexdiately any potential/possible conllitt of interest with-
‘respect  to  any  transactionfissie iavoling the |

- Company

L Group
7



5} Family, Commercial and Contractual Relations

{al indicate, if applicable, any relation of a family,4 commercial, contractual or business nature that exists
between the holders of significant equity (5% or more), to the extent that they are known to the company:

{b} Indicate, if applicable, any relation of a commercial, contractual or business nature that exists between the
holders of significant equity (5% or more) and the company:

{c) Indicate any shareholder agreements that may impact on the control, ownership and strategic direction of
the company:

6} Alternative Dispute Resolution

Describe the alternative dispute resolution system adopted by the company for the last three {3) years in amicably
settling conflicts or differences between the corporation and its stockholders, and the corporation and third
parties, including regulatory authorities.

FAARErnativa Blsplite Resohtion'Systei’
There has been no conflict involving the
corporation and its stockholders, third
parties and regulatory authority during
the covered period.

Corporation & Stockholders

Carporation & Third Parties
Carporation & Regulatory Authorities

C. BOARD MEETINGS & ATTENDANCE

1}  Are Board of Directors’ meetings scheduled before or at the beginning of the year?

2) Attendance of Directors

* Family relationship up to the fourth civil degree either by consanguinity or affinity,
18



“Chiairman | tinsoh Linv Sodn Kol
Member | TanSiew Naok T8
2&15
6 75%
Member Limy Kel Hin: 1y g 8 | 1o0m
» Member StefanTong Wai Mun ;1;:495;& ‘ 9 8 100%
Member Lee FooTuck 1374,11;1:@ : 8 & 160%
‘ 2015 :

independent | CelsoP:vivas | 1tjune [ 8 L [
- | 015 B | oo
‘lndepandent., -Ramon J. Abejuéla 1;;22‘3 f 8 8 100%

3} Do:non-executive directors have's segarat_e:'mee;ﬁngf_ﬁgcing the year-without the presence of any executive?: If
yes, how many times?

4} Is the minimum quorum requirement for Board decisions setat two-thirds of boacd members? Please explain,

5y Accesstoinformation

b} Du hgard members hava mdependent acc&ss t:o Maaagement and the: ﬁmporate Sacretary’?

{c) State the policy of the role of the company: secretary. Does suck-role iinctude‘assi:;f;ing-_i;ija:f(ﬁhai_rman in
preparing the board agends, facilitating training of -directors,: keeping directors: updated regarding any
relevant stetutory and regulatory changes, stc?

{d} Is the company seqratary. tralned in legal, a:muntam:y or-Company searetarta pracuces? Plesse explain
should the answer be inthe negative.

(e} Committee Procedures

Distiose whether there is a:;procedure that Directors can avall of 1o gnable them to-get information necessary
to-be able to preparesin advance for the inestings of different coimimittess:

Yes ! \}' l &o [:j

Executive. R ,

Audit |- Thedirectors have free access t-any Information. pertaining to
Nomiination. 7} the meeting which they may:coursethrough the Corparate
Rerunerstion 7| Secratary, the President or the Chairman,

“QOthers {specify)

* Board papers consist of compléte and adéquaté information about the mattars to be taken in the boaed meeting,
Infarmation includes the background or explanation. on mtters brought befory the-Board, disclosures, budgets,
forecasts and internal financial documents.
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BY ExternalAdvice

indicate-whether or riot a procedure axists whereby directors con redaive extersial advice and
details:

Fon any matter requiring
extérnal consultant, dire

to: the apgmvat of the Board

‘te exp

engage the services of an external ady &

_appréwd I}y ebb

7} Change/s in existing policies

Indicate, if applicatile; any. change/s iitrodiited by the. Board ¢ )
existing pol:cles that may have an effect oi the Business ofthe ¢ company-and |

of D-recmzs:{durin_ its:most recent term): on
hie reason/s for the change:

D. REMUNERATION MATTERS

1} Remuneration Process

Disclose the process used for determining the tamunersfion of the CEOanil tie fisur {4} mast highly compenisated
managemeant officers:

{1} Fixed remunera tim‘v E}etermmed by the Determmd, bylhe
} e S Reriunacation: Committea Remuneratm Ccmms!,t:ee
{2y Vanabtes remuneratxon None m:ma o
{3} Per diem a!k)wance ' ‘ Ncm
] sztermxned bythe
{4 -
{4} Bonus ; ‘;Remurl&rak:gn.Cqmm;ttee‘
{5):Stock Qptions.and ) S
othes financiat Nong None
instruments : —
{6} Others {specify) Ngne Noig

2} Remuneration Policy and Structure for Executive and Noo-Exesutive Directors

Disclose the company’s:policy. on erfuneration and the structurs af s ¥ t:ompezzsauan package. Explain how the
compeénsation of Exetutive’and Non-Executive Directots isicaleulited:

20



Executive Directors

& ammdm&
ditermines
: remunaratxon

theg

‘:Compen&atmn
: Committee:

| As determined by, the. ; ned
| the Compensation |

As determined by |

Committee:

Non-Executive Divectors

_ determmﬂs

T remungeration
| non«exgcutive
v .di’re;:tars;

the | 2
of

heetings

1 fiked: amount of |
Fdirectors’ fee ori an |
“annualbasis

Fixed annual directors’ fee of Php80,000.00:

3}  Aggregate:Remuneration’

Complete the following table-on the aggrepate remineration accriiad during the most ratent yesr

- Fixed Remuneration

80,000/year

| 80,000fyear

Varizble Remuneration.

/A

'\;m]_g;

Per diem Allowance

10,000/ meeting:

. 10,000/ meeting.

10,000/ meeting:

Bonuses

Nong:

' None

{iNone:

(a)
1 (o)
1 {e}
1 g}

{e}

Stock Options and/or
other financial

None

Nong:

Noae

instruments

Others. {Specify)

None

Mane.

‘Hornpa.

PBO, 000 00*

P90,000.00

P9G;000.00

1)

Advances

2)

Credit granted

3}

Contributions

Pension Plan/s

Do stockholders have the opportunity to apprmze the c!cc;slon r:m tctal remunemtxon {faﬁs a flowarntes, benefits-
in-kind and other emoluments} of board of: dxrectors?“ P (3}y
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{d) Pension Plans,.
_ Obligations incurred

(8} Ufelnsurande Preniiuvm | None one

{}_Hospialization Plan | None one

(g} CarPlan s Thone

_|Nene

None:

4} -Stntk’ﬁights; Options and Warrants

{a) Bodrd of Directors
Complete the following table;.on the-menibers of the company’
to stock rights, options or warrants over the company’s shares:

s Bodrdof Directors who own of are entitled

T A8 e

" Linsan Lim Soon
Koai ) ‘
Ramon | Abejuela | None : Nong 1 /K | N/

| None | None | | N/

CelsoPVivas  |'None None N/A 1 nza
Stefan Tong Wai
Wun o e
Lim Kei Hin 1 None “fNOﬂej MR N

None 1 Nane SNAA. NiA

o |

‘teeFoo Tixck- 1 None

| Tan siewNgok | None | None WA /A

{b} Amendments of Incantive Programs

Indicate any amendments and distontinuation of any. incentive. programs introduced, including the criteria
used 1 the dredtion of the program.. Disclose ‘whethér. these ace subject-to-approval during the-Annyal

Stockholders’ Meeting:

St Remuneration of Management

Identify the five {5) members of managemént who- are ngt'at the same time execative directors and indicate the

total remuneration recelved during the financial year:

7



Admm/‘i‘masursr" :

Ehzabeth M: I’erethssr. Manager,

Rermufrationis stated i 17A.& 15

BOARD COMMITTEES.

Executwe

Number o_f*M;amhérs; ﬁunﬁtibﬁs and Kes'pcnsi&_ifiﬁ_és-'

Audit

N8 2

W charter

13, :vasigﬁt
i'functmn Oﬁ

, ‘}‘exmm»él aud“t

if system/proces

1.) Financial
Reporting and

disclosyres

FRigk

| Management.
Lointermal
“Controls.

: audit‘. |
4.) External
oversight.

1)

-approve.
financial |
reports/di
sclosures
2

fecomme:
ad

-appointm
entof |
internal &
‘external

auditor

{3 review
,;9f
' -mmryany’r

Streéaing

Na |2

Pre-serédnand
1 shortlist all

| candidates

| nominatedte
| Becomea

| metoberofthe:
1 Board of

| Directors,

-Enstre that
nominessars
- cpalified
 based on the
company's
“Bydaws and
amended
MGG

T shorthist
| candidate |

for

| election:

i,

e-ti‘;a

’ ;mmba,r

of

directorsh

ips ofthe
members

1 ofthe

Board,

determin. |

-Remunerati
_on/Compen:

N& L2

-Oversight dver

Develop
policy on

Review/re.

| command:

gemunerdtion.

23



o ”nf ’mfeCEQTSa

executive

sation g
senior remuneration. | remunera
management  |and fiding the :twn of
anifioth r!mf “remuneration: { o
: ‘packages for | senior:
. | managem
entand’
otherkey |
NN N S PR T | personnet |
Y I i o R SR 1 EE0NNE
|ispecity) |VA .

2} Committee Members
{3}’ Executive Comaniittes.

N/A. The Company has 0o Executive Comiiitize

‘ ,Chaim&an e i
Member{ED}
“Mémber {NED)
Membee (1D}

fember

ol Audit Coramittee

Chairman Ramom Abejuela L2 Jure 2015

Member (€D) | | B
Member (NED) |'Stefan Tong WmMun MWiune 2015 ] .5 g 100%:] Byears
Member{(ID} ~ [Colso®.Vivas Ihine2015| s 5 100% | 10 years
Member e ' -

Disclose the profile or qualifications of the Audit Committes members,

1} Mr. Ramon’l. Abejuela 66. years old,. Filipinio, has been an. inm’mndmt Girectar of the Company from
November 1999 to June 2008. He was eevelected in June 2009 and; i gurreatly the:Chairman fo the Audit
Committee of the Company.

He also serves as Director of Philippine Nutrifoods Corporation and NCP Publishing Corporation.

Mr. Abejuela holds a Degree in:Bachelor oF Seience in Chemical Engme&rmg {Cum Laude) from De La Salle
University and Master's Degree in Business Managemant ~ Ganeral Management Curricutum From Asian
institute of Management.

2} Me Celso P, Vivas 68, Fehpma, has been an Independent D remzr of the Company sifce Noverber 2004
and is a membierof the Company’s-Audit Committee. He'is Certifiad Public Accauntant and s surrently
Vice-Chairman-and CEO of the. Corporite Governance. Instntute of thePhilippines {CGIP), He Is 2 membar
of Marubeni Foundation's Board of Trustees anci Canadian: Chamber of Commerca’s Board of Governors,
He iz siso anindependant Director and Chigirrnan of the Audit Committes of Xepps! Philippines Maring,
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Ing; and Independint: Birector of Keppel PHilippines: Hotd ngs singeune 2{)05 and’is currently a memberv
of the Audxt Commitiea of the Comparny;

Asmn lnstnme of Mafzagemem (S.G & CQ, ’Sf:h‘ B ¢ :
frome Australian: Institute of o D s (D $ harar} <Mt Vivas fas accumulated 116 years af
saperience in sudit, findntd; snterprisefisk manag&meﬂt and t:c}rparate governancs,

3} Mr: Stefan Tong Wai Mun 42, M'a{aysi

was elar:tec% asa Directorof me Comgxany in June 200? He is
currenuy the Pres:deat arsd mrerzm' : i

Ang.and: l}irecior»ﬁf Keppe! Suhac Shmyard tm: He is
alsa Dcrecter of various: Keppel ct::mpames in the Phshppines

Mr. Tong holds-a. Bachelor-of Commaree: {Honours) Degree flonm: Umvarmty of Western Australia, Ha'ig
-alsoa Member of the Institute:of Chantered Acéountants in Australia.

Describe the Audit Committee’s responsibilily rélative to the externalatditor.

Perfoem oversight functions over the extecnal auditor and ensiive that exteroal auditoract independantly
of the Internal audxtoc.

[c} Momination Commities

) “Linson L on Kool 11 june 201
:Membef(m) | R NS N e .
Member (NED) | Stefan Tong Wan Mun Hune2015 | 1 | 1 100% | 8yeass
Member (10) | Celso P. Vivas I mtnezons | 1 11 [100% | dvears
{ Member | ' ) a

{d} Remuneration Comimities

Chairman Linson L $oon Kooi ; 1{June 2015  Syeats,
Member (ED} | - ' '
‘Member (NED)' | Stefan Tong Wai Mun
Member (ID} | Ramoni. Abejuela

Member  { .

’ 53,1- Junezmﬁ‘: 1 1§ a00% “fyears
i oo ¥ 41 1 100% | 1Syears

{a} Others (Specify}

Provide the same information-on all other committees constituted by the Board of Directors:

Member {ED)

Mamber (NED}
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Member {10} -

Member

3} Changesin Committee Members -N/A

Indicate any changes in committee membership that occurred during the year and the reason for the changas:

Executive

Audit

Nomination

Remuneration

Others (specify)

4) Wark Done and Issues Addressed

Describe the work done by each committee and the 'signiﬁcant issues addressed during the year.

Executive N/A
Audit Quarterly/Annual  Reports  timely None
) reviewed/submitted to SEC/PSE
) Nomination Evaluated/pre-screened all
. N . None
— nominees for directorship .
Remuneration Reviewed fees/ailowances of
directors Management and None
parsonnel
Others (specify) None

5} Committee Program

Provide a list of programs that each committee plans to undertake to address relevant issues in the improvement
or enforcement of effective governance for the coming year,

Executive None None
Audit None None
Nomination None Noae
Remuneration None None
i Others (specify} N/A ' N/A

F. RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
The Company is currently setting up a formal Risk Management framework.
1) Disclose the following:
{3) Overall risk management philosaphy of the company;
The Company’s objective is to protect and enchance the intérest of its stakeholders by committing itself to
the principles of risk management, fairness, accountability and transparency. Thus, it fully embraces and

practices sound corporate governance in order to instill trust and confidence to the organization.

The Keppel Group assessed the management risk through its quarterly desktop review of the financials of the
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company. The Company including its subsidiaries and associates submits on monthly basis the financial
reports to the Keppel Group.

{b) A statement that the directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management system and
commenting on the adequacy thereof;
{c) Period covered by the review;

(d} How often the risk management system is reviewed and the directors’ criteria for assessing its effectiveness;
and

{e} Where no review was conducted during the year, an explanation why not.
2} Risk Policy
{a} Company
Give a general description of the company’s risk management policy, setting out and assessing the risk/s

covered by the system (ranked according to priority], along with the objective behind the policy for each kind
of risk:

g TR o DT
¢:Management, Poll

N/A

Ris

{b} Group

Give a general description of the Group’s risk management policy, setting out and éssessing the risk/s covered
by the system {ranked according to priority), along with the objective behind the policy for each kind of risk;

R

fanggément Pojicy.
N/A

(¢} Minority Shareholders

Indicate the principal risk of the exercise of controlfing shareholders’ voting power,

RISk 1o Mingeiry Shatenolds
N/A

*3) . Control System Set Up
(a) Company

Briefly describe the control systems set up to assess, manage and control the main issue/s faced by the
company:
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Na i 7 S T

b} Group

‘Briefly. describe the cantro! systems ‘set up: to-assess; Manage and cantrol thee main. isstue/s faced by the
company

{c}: Committee

identify the committee or any other. body. of camoram? governance:in charge of laying down and supervising
these controf mechanfsms and: give details of its:

; against it:s wmplrance w:th

- both the internal financial

- management-handbook and
i.perﬁnent:accoummg
“Standards, Including: reguiatory
~reguiremantsy

-2 Beview interssted party
‘transar:imns*

,3 Fedorm overs;ghtfmanma!

The Audit Committée provides:
oversight over Managsment's
activities i managing credit,
market, Hiquidity, operational,
legatand other risks Of the'
corporation which function

| cludes ragilar rade il
| Manageément of informiation”
1 enrisk-exposures dnd risk

" managemént activitiss.

Audit Committes

m;um y; csoeratnana! Tlegatand
- other risksof the Corporation, .
“and ¢risls -management;

?4, Pertorm dicectinterface
fiinctions with the internatand |
| external auditoes

- G. INTERNALAUDIT AND CONTROL

The Comgpany and i subsad;ane& and assogiates submit to the Keppet Greup the monthly financial report, Tha:
Keppel Group Control conducts review and ana tysis financial repor submatzed The Company and its 3ubstéwnes
and associates are required to answer any: queries or material variances an:its fevenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities of the period under review against: previous perforniance. The Keppel- Gmuy also conduct physical audit
at longecinterval when necassary.

1 Internal Conteol System N/A

Disclose the fpilcwingiin’f_armatmjn-zpe;rt;aining:n;zigms internal controt systerapl thecompany:
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2}

{3} Explainbiow the internal control system is defiried for the company;

The control enviranment-of the 'Corpuration consisty o

p 8 ) . i 0.5 propar!v-and-szecmeiy_managﬁd and supe(wged'

2. @ Management that activel g.manag_ and ppeeates the Corgarationin s sound'and prudentmanner;

3. the-organizational and procadural controls supported by effacti e/ management information and risk
management reporting Systemsyand:

4. an independent audit mechadisim monitor the adequacy and effez:twenms of the: Corporation’s:
governance, operations, and information. systems, including the reliability and Integrity of 7 inarcial and’
operational inforniation; the. sffectiveness an ficiericy:of cp&fatf’onz the safeguarding of assets; and
compliance with laws, rules, regulations and contracts.

. the internal contral system and whether

Fractivensss

they crmszde hem effective and a ,Equate, Non
{c} Period covered by the: eview; Nong
(81 How often internal controls are reviewed and-the: directors’ criteria for: assessing. the effectiveness of the
internal control systemz and: L
(e} Where no review was conducted during the year, an.explanation why not.

Internal:Audit

{al. Role, Scope and Internal Audit Furiction:

Although the position of 'ﬁntemal Audwer” Has iken Providied for it the Company’s Amended Merial oa the
Cofporate-Governance, the Company: Has vet to: appolnt BRCirtacnal Autitor, At presint, the Intarnal Audit
function is performed by the Audit Committes,

Give a general description of the role, scope:of internal audit’ work and other details of the’ internal audit
function.

fe) - Discuss the internal audnt‘, s reporting 'Iationshvp with the audit Sommiltee, ‘Does the’ internal auditor have
direct and unf‘ettered aceess. to:the-board. of drrectars sned the audit ccmmxttee and’ to alt rer:ortis, properties
and personnel i3 N/A

{d) Resignation, Re:assignment and Reasons

Disclose any resignation/s-or re-agsignment of the internal audit staff {including those employed by the third:
pasty:-auditing firm)'and the reason/s for them.

{e} Prograss against-Plans;15sues, Findings and Exemination Trends:

R

State’ the internal audit's prograss: against-plans; significant issues,. mgmfxcant findmg& and exammalian
trends.
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(g}

N
NJA
N/A
T

[The relationship among progress, plans, Issues and findings should be viewed as an internal control review
cycle which involves the following step-by-step.ac

{a) Preparation.ofan audit plan inclysive of a timeline and miléstones;:
(b} Conduct of examination based on the plan;
(c) £vatuation-ofth_engqgres,s intheimplementation.of the plan;
{d) Documentation of issues and findings 85 a resultof theexamination; ,
(e} Determination of the pervasive: issues.and findings (“"examination trends”) based on single year
resyltand/or year-to-year results;
(th Condugtof the foregoing procedures ona regular basis.]

Audit Control Policies:and Procedires N/A
Disciose allinternal audit controls; policies and procedires that have been estatilished by the:company and
the result of aiv assessment as to whethee the -establishied ‘controls, policies sid procedures. have been
implemented under the column “Implatentation;”

Mechanisms and Safeguards

State the mechanism established by the corpany to safeguard the independence of the auditors, financial
analysts, investment banks and rating.agencies (example, restrictions on trading in-the company’s shares and
imposition of internal approval procedures Tar.th ansactions, limitatian on' the non-audit services that an
external auditor:may. provide to the company): !

ternal auditors report directly to the Audit Committee for

any issues during the conduct of the interim and year-end audit.

{h) State the-officers {prefacably: the Chairman and- the CEOY whic will Have to attest to the company’s full

compliance with the SEC Code:of Carporate Governance: Stich confirmation must state that al directors;
officers and ‘employees of the company have been givin proper: mstruction o their raspective duties as
mandated by the Code and that interaal mechanisms are in place to ensire that compliance.

Messes Linson Lint Soon.Kooi and Lee Foo:Tuck, Chairman of the Board and ‘President, réspettively, of the
Carporation, confifms that the Corporation is-in full compliarice with:the SEC Code of Corporate Governance
and further confirms that all direciors, affisers snd ey yyees of the tampany have been given proper
instruction on their respective-duties as. mindated by the Codé arid that internal mechanishms aredn place to
ensure that compliance.

" “Issues” are compliance matters that arise from adopting different interpratations.

? “Findings” are those with concrete basis under the company’s. policies and rules,
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" ROLE OF STAKEHOLDERS

a. Disclose the company's policy and activities relative to the following:
Polley : : - Activities
Officers and employees should
Customers' welfare - | conduct business with the customers None

with integrity

Supplier/contractar selection
practice

Company bids out supply/service
requirements and selects from None
among top 2 bidders

Environmaentally friendly value-
chain

The Company complies with all
environmental laws in the conduct None
of its business

Community interaction No specific policy. None

Anti-corruption programmes and | company with the anti-corruption

All officers and employea must

proceduras? policies set out in the Employee None
Code of Conduct
: The company complies with all
Safeguarding creditors' rights applicable laws, rules and » None

regulations

b.

1)

Does the company have a separate corporate responsibility (CR} report/section or sustainability report/section?
No
Performance-enhancing mechanisms for employee participation.
None
i.  What are the company’s policy for its employees’ safety, health, and welfare?
ii. Show data relating to health, safety and welfare of its employees.
fil. State the company's training and development programmes for its employ_ees. Show the data.

iv. State the company’s reward/compensation poiicy. that accounts for the performance of the company beyond
short-term financial measures

What are the company’s procedures for handling complaints by employees concerning illegal (including
corruption) and unethical behaviour? Explain how employees are protectad from retaliation,

1} Whistle Blower Protection Policy
E’mployees are encouraged to report any inappropriate conduct in good faith without fear of reprisal under
the Whistle Blower Protection Policy. The Company guarantees full confidentiality and protection fo the
whistle blower,
The complaints are handled by the Admin. Manager under the supervision of the President.

DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY

Ownership Structure

{aj Holding 5% shareholding or more
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3 Lefd sty SIS R e e T N e et g e Ry
L Shadeholder o Number.of Shares ;i Beneficial Ownér -4’
Keppel Land Limites 148,365,050 Same as Record Owner
Kepwealth, Inc. 51,033,178 Same as Record Owner
Keppel Corporation | 35,783,741 12.18% - Same as Record Owner
Limited
PCD Nominee Corp. -~ | 30,734,163 10.46% Various
Filipino i
Lee Foo Tuck ~
. 1 0 - 0.
President /455,708 30%
Almira A,
Anonuevo-
None .- -
Treasurer, Manager,
Finaonce & Admin.
TOTAL 1,455,708 0.50%
2} Does the Annual Report disciose the following:
Key risks Yes
Corporate objectives Yes
Financial performance indicators Yes
Nan-financial performance indicators Yes
Dividend policy Yes
No ~included
Details of whistle-blowing policy in gr;‘r’p:oox;ee
Conduct.
Biograghical details (at least aga, qualifications, date of first appointmeant, relevant experie:te, and any othar Yes
directorships of listed companies) of directors/commissigners
Training and/or continuing education programme attended by each director/commissianar Nan::: the
Number of board of directors/commissioners meetings held dwring the year Yes
No ~included
inthe
certificate of
Attendance details of each director/commissioner in respect of meetings held attendance of
directors
submitted to
SEC
AR shows
remuneration
of top 3
Details of remuneration of the CEQ and each member of the board of directors/commissioners highest pad
executive
, officersasa
| groun i

Should the Annual Report not disclase any of the above, please indicate the reason for the non-disclosure.
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3) External Auditor’s fee

g
Php 565,070.00

4)  Medium of Communication

List down the mode/s of communication that the company is using for disseminating information,
{h)  Written communication; (i} PSE EDGE Submission System disclosures; (iti) SEC disclosures

5) Date of release of audited financial report: 11 january 2016
6} Company Website -~ The Company has already set up a website

Does the company have a website disclosing up-to-date information about the following?

Business pperations Yes
Financial statements/reponts [curreat and prior years) Yes
. . . Yes
Materials provided in briefings to analysts and media
N Yes
Shareholding structure
Group corporate structure Yes
k{
Cownloadable annual report es
Yes
Notice of AGM and/or EGM
Yes
Company's constitution {(company's by-laws, memorandum and articles of association)

Should any of the foregoing information be not disclosed, please indicate the reason therefo.

7) Disclosure of RET

When RPTs are involved, what processes are in place to address them in the maaner that will safeguard the
interest of the company and in particular of its minority shareholders and other stakeholders?

The Company enters into a related party transaction based on the market rate. Proper disclosuras are made on the
Company’s
17Q, 17A, 1S and 17C when required and necessary.
1. RIGHTS OF STOCKHOLDERS
1} Right to participate effectively in and vote in Annual/Special Stockholders’ Meetings
{3} Quorum

Give details on the gquorum required to convene the Annual/Special Stockholdsrs’ Meeting as set forth in its By-
laws.

33



{h. System Used.to Apgrove Corporate Acts:

Explain the system used to approve -c’gmo:atg acts.

(£} Stockholders” Rights.

List any Stockholders’ ‘Rights. wncemmg Annual/Special Stockholdars” Meeting that differ from those Jaid
down in the Corporation Code,

Dividends

(d} ‘Stockholders’ Participation

1. State; if any, the measires sdopted th. promate stockbioider participation. i the Annual/Special-
Stockholders” Meeting; including the. pmcadurﬁ on-howstackhiolders .and other partizs interested miay
communlicate directly with the Chidirman of the 8oard, :ndmduai directors o Board commitioes. nclude
in the discussion the stéps the:Bodrd hastake nd i tatd theviews of the stocktivlders as
weell as prccedures for putting forward proposs f-sttzrkhmdars. Méatings..

1) T The  Stockfolders  are  free to]
stockhiolders: for any questians/danf“ tion' | ask/ctarify/paiticipate duting the

on any matterbeing taken upinthe mesting | stockhiolders mesting

2. Statethe company policy of asking sharehiolders 16 dctively participate in corporate décisivas regarding:
3 Amendments to the company's:constitution:
Pyrsuant to Section 16 of the Corpmaimn Code, any provision or matter stated in the articles. of
incorporation may-be amended by dimajority:vote of the bosrd'of directors and the vote or wiitten
assent of the stockholders representing ot least 2/3 of the oulstanding ¢apital stock, without
prejudice to the appraisal right-of dissenting stockholders in sccordance w;m the provisions of this
Code.
All proposed amendnients are sobimitted to the stockholders for approvals
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b. 'A’utharitation-bfadditiqﬁaiasharg;-

: ap k- atd meetm' du ca!ied ,
mthout pre udnce o the; appratsal right dzssenting smckhoi jarsin.a ve’vwnth the pmv;amns of
this Code.

Any proposed increase in authorized capital sto

: subiitted to'the stockholders for approval.
e, Transferaof alf or substantialtyall assets, which in efféct resylts inthe salé of the company

Pursiiant to Sectnon 40 of the ﬁomomtiﬂn miei transfer}sa!e af all or substanttaﬂy ai‘l cxf the
‘corporation’s assets shall be Fe :

be approved-by at least 2/3 of th
without prejfudice to the appra
-of this-Code.

.................

3. ‘Doesthe company observé amitimum af 21 business. days.for giving out of notices 16, the AGM where
items to bé resclved by shareholders aie-tiken up?®

a. Date of s‘ending}:wt- fiahices: 21 MW}‘ZOZLS
b, Date of the Annual/Special Stockhiolders’ ‘Meating! 113000 2015

4. Skate; s‘ffany,V.Quasfiaqs:and-answefs:du.éing}:thqﬁqqua!lSp,ecfa!,;‘Stc;j::kﬁdldg@‘?5Maajt‘i‘_ng,
Noue

S.  Result of Annual/Special Stockholders” Meating’s Resolutions -

Ratificationof Actsand |
Proceedings of the
Board of Digstors,
Officersand
Mazgement of the:
Corporation duriog the
Year pnder Roview

Albstockhpldérs

present. Nong Horie

Presantation and
Approval of Y2014
Annuat Report and
AKudited Financial ; ]
Statements - " . ]
Appointment of ' ‘ o
External Auditar foe-
Y205

Atk stockholders

peesent. Por . Mone

Al stockholdars.
present

6. - Dateof publishing of the resultof the vates raken'during the most recint AGM for all Feselitions:

During the: meeting itself, the voling: tdsults are announced and imeadiately disclosed t¢ thie public
through PSE/SEC,

{e) Muodifications.

State; any, the madxﬁcattans mad@ in the Anouag /specaal Stockholders” Meetmg regulations.during the most
recentyear and the reason for sugh mmhfxcatmn

fNong
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]

{el

Stockholders* Attendance

i) Details of Attendanice in the Annual/Spetial StoekHolders’ Mesting Held:

' Lmsan L:m Sacm :
Koo,
‘Lim Kef Hin,
;ﬁ'Ramon £
Abejuela,
-Celso P, Vivas,
Lee Foo Tuck
;ﬁStefan Tong
- Wai Munand
Fran siew Ngak_ ¥

Annual | Buoll ‘osoa% | o2% | oasi%

- Special

{ii} . Does the company agpoint an, maepenﬁant party: {mspectars) torount and/ar validate the: visties at.the
ASM/SSMs?

The Corporate Secretary assisted by the Company’s Extemaﬁ ‘Buditor shall’ be: rasnansrbie for the
sounting/validation of votes.

{iit} Do the company's common shares cairy orie vote for one share‘* o, s:f;sciose and give reasons for sny
divergence to this standard. Where the company has. more than one dlass of shares, deseribe the, otiog
rights attached to each class of shares,

Yes.

Proxy Voting Policies

State the policies followed by the company- régarding proxy: votmg i the Aanual/Special. Stockholders’
Meeting:

Item VIt {GY Arended Manualan Corporate Governanos:

It shall-be the duty of the directors 1o prombote shireholder: rights; remove impedimants to-the 'exercisé of
shareholders” right and: allow possibilities to seek redress for violation of their Tights. They shiall encouirage’
the exercise of shafeholders” voting ighits and’ the $olution:of ¢ollective action problems through. appropriate
mechanisms. They shall beinsteumantal in removing extessive costy and other admistiative or pract:cai
impediments:to sharsholdecs panticipating in-meetings and/or- votifig in person: He directors shall pave the:
way for the electronic filing and distribution of sharehbider mfﬁrmatmn necessary to wnake informed
decisions subject tolegal constraints.

The Board:should be transparent and fair in the condutt of the annual and: special-stockholders’s megting of
the corporation. The stockholders should be encouraged to persondlly atterd: such mesti ng; 1F they canrmt:
attend, theyshould be appracseci shead of time of their right w appointy ;zraxy Subject to the reguirements.
of the:byJaws, the exartise of the right shiall not & uriduly. restricted:snd, any doubt about the validity of a

proxy should be resolved in the:stockholders” Favor, 1t i§ the: duty of the Board o promote the rights of the
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stackholders, remova inipediments to the exercise ﬁf those: nghts and pinvide an adequate avenie for them
to seek timély rediess for breach o their rights.

Execution.and acckptance of proxies

sotery o

— ' (3e<;tion 7 af the By-laws) Ali pmxses must be in Ihe hantfs af v
' ‘me Secretary not Iater {h:m fwo: {2} t:iays be,fcs(e the: ﬁme set
:_-Suﬁmi‘s_siqn,af-_f.’-’rqxg
Severs! Proxies
T pmxy s_hau t;e vahd,ur_;!;gfm l_he meetmg fu,r which itis |
‘intended. unless. otherwise provided “{Section 7, By:laws}
o Hit remgnt - ]
Validity.of Proxy Subject to. this-requiremants:of the by-laws, the -exergise of

-the right to:appoint praxy shail not-be-voduly restricted and’
‘any doubt about thevalidity of the proxy should be resolved
on the smckhald&rs favor;

— | Progies exécuted dbroad jN‘n mme::fzc formai mquirament under the By-laws
v - 'The 5hares represented hv an mxfat;dated prqu,.shmt“ﬁﬁt be

v ) Invalidated Proxy

Validation of Proxy mexeg ara vy sda_teri pribrtgthe mae;mg;
' :V?éﬁé‘tibhﬁéhatl' ﬁé}' aeae‘z“iwi;h; inaccordance with Jaw and the |

| Violation.of Prisxy.

{h} Sending of Notices

State the company's policies and nmmd»m on the sending of notiees .pf ApnualfSpecial &tockhafders'
Meeting.

' {Section 4, Amcte u By was) Written norices fczr:; ‘l‘he nohce& togethar thh the- definitive 20-1
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mailing the notice at least fourteen (14) days prior
to the date of meeting.

regular or special meetings of stockholder may be | and other AGM materials are sent out ahead of
sent by the Secretary, by personal delivery or by | the period provided under the by-laws.

{i) Definitive Information Statements and Management Report

L] e;g;giﬁ_' -
g'

tggg@ 7 il 1,258

I
g ﬁﬁ"*%?

f.!
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3 21 May 2015

] WHers s i
"%ﬁa e

R S G
%?' : SNe

21 May 2015

o

X Yl Hard copies were distributed

o gy

Jita \Q:" he
lesirnihnaivade

{i) Does the Notice of Annual/Special Stockholders’ Meeting include the following:

Each resolution to be taken up deals with only one item.

Yes’

Profiles of directors {at least age, qualification, date of first appointmem,‘
experience, and directorships in other listed companies) nominated for
elaction/re-elaction,

No-included in the
definitive IS sent out
to stockholders

The auditors to be appointed or re-appointed.

No-included in the
definitive IS sent out
to stockholders

An explanation of the dividend policy, if any dividend is to be deciaréd.

No-included in the
definitive IS sent out
to stockholders

The amount payable for final dividends.

No-included in the
definitive IS sent out
to stockholders

Documents required for proxy vote,

Yes

Should any of the foregoing information be not disclosed, please inditate the reason thereto.

2} Treatment of Minority Stackholders

(a) statethe company’s policies with respect to the treatment of minority stockholders.

1) Shareholders, including the mmornty, have

directors and vote on certain corporate acts | policies
in accordance with the Corporation Code

the right to elect, remove and replace | The Corporation is fully implementing all these
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1)

2}

[ 1) Objectives

2} Cumulative voting shall be removed without| R
cause if it will deny minority sharsholders |
fepresentationin the Board:

3) A directar shall not' be removed without.
cause itH-will deny minbity shareholders’
represéntation in the Bosrd. j

4.} & minority stackholders has all the rights of a
stockholder undeér the bydaws & the
Corporation Code,

Yes,.any stockholder may»-nnmmate.st:and:ﬁatesf '

© INVESTORS RELATIONS PROGRAM

Discuss the company’s external and interngl) ﬁummums:anon ;ﬁmumes and How: frequently they are reviewsd,
DRisclose who reviews and approves majy ‘  Idemiiy the committeewith this
responsibility; if ivhas been.assignadito 2. .om,mm_e:.e.:

Internal communications and routine extema} Somminicationg are: prepar&d/a;wrwed by the president, On the

other hand, major-company amouncementsjextemal mtraspand&nce on maior issues are prepared by the
president, in consultaion with'the Corporate Secretary and the Boatd of Divetiors.

Describe. the wmp’artys inv‘estor’ relations pz‘f;gtam’ iisclu&mg’

umcatim& stralegy o pmmotiz effect:rva

Nohe,

Disclose: the contact detaily (é‘g“ telephone, fax and emaﬂ] of the officer responsibie:for investor refations. The
Company ensures access by the stockholdersfinvestors of all relevant infarmation pertaining to. the Company’s
busingss operations.

(2) Principles d: 1
. A The essence of corpmate gmemance is !ransparenw The |
; Bcrarci mmmats axii a!l t;mes to fnl}y msck:sa matanai

B Tbev rﬁ;}m& of diszto&utes reqwréti uricler this Mmuéﬁ shall
be prepared and subivitted to the Comimission by the |

: isible Committes sriofficer through-the: Crzrpt)raimﬂs

¢ Complisrice Officer.

- C Al material dnformition, Lei, -ahvithing  that - could:

' potentially-affect share price, shall be publicly disclosed..
Suéh tnformation shallinciode sarnings Tesults, scquisition |
or dispoal of gssets; of balance sheet transactions; board
changes, rélated’ party transactiang, direct and indirect
remuneration of rhembers of the Board and. management,.

4. shareholdings of: directors and: chdngesé ta- cwnersth

14D, Other: informatibn 1h afwiay:

| remuneration (mcluéing stack apbans} of all dxrecmrs am}f

senior management tofiorate strategy, :and off balance

shaehtmnsactmnz ;
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3} What arethe company's rules and procediires governing thie acqi

8

stock exchange: procedy

{3y Mades of Communications

{8} Investors Relations Officer

isition. ot corporate control in the capital

markets, andrextraordinary transactions such as mergars; and sales of substitial portions of corporate sssets?

Noive:

The Company complies with thelegal réquirements for sequisition of shaces, mérgers. aﬁ@‘sa!’esﬁfﬁub’stantis'!.
portions of corporate assets under the Lorpioration tode

de of Corporate Governance, and other pertinent

faws and SEC rules/regulations, and Aménded ManisglénCarpotate Goverpance,,

Name.of the independent party the board of directorsiof the company appointed to bvaliiate the Baimess of the

transaction price.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY INITIATIVES

BOARD; DIRECTOR; COMMITTEE AND CEQO-APPRAISAL

Disclose the process followed and: ceiteria; used ‘In assessing the
commitieées, individual director, and the CEO/Prasident.

Board of Directors

sAmended
Lorporate Gavernance

mpliarice. . with their

Adubies/responsibilities under-
the  Bydaws,  Code of
Corporate Governance: and |
Manual  on |

1 Board Committens

conducts: ai independent |
“Hesessmant.  of ;
committees”  performance |-

annilly

= Compliance
ASSPRCtive
duties/responsibiliies  sut
Ut v the code of Corpacate |
Goerdance and Amended |
WManusl . B Cocporats |
Gaveraance

the |

With  their

{ Individual Directors

The Boardd of Direttors|
‘conducts. an
" assessment: af the

CEQ/President’s

patformiaace phioe to ‘the:
endofhistermofoffice: |

aongal |

- The -Company’s overall

Dusiness performance. and
compliance  with  the
Ampnded Manoal. and the
Company's policies.
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| CEO/President i | I

N. INTERNAL BREACHES AND SANCTIONS

Discuss the internal policies on sanctions imposed for any violation or breach of the corporate governance manual
involving directors, officers, management and employees

item X, Amended Manual on Corporate Governance:

A. " To strictly obsarve and implement the provisions of this manual, penalties shalf be imposed, after notice
and hearing on the company’s directors, officers, staff subsidiaries and affiliates and their respective
dicectors, officers and staff in case o violation of any of the provision of this Manual,

1 violation Reprimand
2™ violation Suspension
3" violation Removal - subject to Sec. 28 of the Corporation Code

in the ¢ase of directors
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